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Form No. CAA 2

(Pursuant to Section 230(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 6 and 7 of the Companies 
(Compromises, Arrangements & Amalgamations) Rules, 2016)

BEFORE THE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL

PRINCIPAL BENCH, NEW DELHI

(ORIGINAL JURISDICTION)

COMPANY APPLICATION NO. CA (CAA)127 (PB) OF 2020

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 (18 OF 2013)

SECTIONS 230 & 232 

AND

IN THE MATTER OF SCHEME OF AMALGAMATION

AND

IN THE MATTER OF

HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED
APPLICANT NO. 1/TRANSFEROR COMPANY

AND
INFO EDGE (INDIA) LIMITED

APPLICANT NO. 2/TRANSFEREE COMPANY

NOTICE CONVENING THE MEETING OF 
THE UNSECURED CREDITORS OF INFO EDGE (INDIA) LIMITED

To,

The Unsecured Creditors of Info Edge (India) Limited

Take Notice that the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Principal Bench, New Delhi vide its Order 
dated February 10, 2021 (date of pronouncement), inter alia, directed for convening of a meeting of Unsecured 
Creditors of Info Edge (India) Limited through Video Conferencing with the facility of Remote E-voting in 
compliance with the guidelines issued by Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA), for the purpose of considering 
and, if thought fit, approving, with or without modification, the proposed Scheme of Amalgamation of Highorbit 
Careers Private Limited with Info Edge (India) Limited, and other connected matters, if any. In the said meeting 
the following business will be transacted:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass, the following resolution with specific majority as provided under 
sections 230 & 232 of the Companies Act, 2013, and other applicable provisions, if any:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of sections 230 & 232 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Companies 
(Compromises, Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules, 2016, the National Company Law Tribunal Rules, 
2016, and other applicable provisions, if any, and subject to the approval of the Hon’ble National Company 
Law Tribunal and/or other competent authorities, if any, the approval of Unsecured Creditors, be and is hereby 
accorded for the proposed Amalgamation of Highorbit Careers Private Limited (the “Transferor Company”) 
with Info Edge (India) Limited (the “Transferee Company”); and other connected matters.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the salient features/terms and conditions of the amalgamation, as set out in the 
draft Scheme of Amalgamation as placed before the meeting, which, inter-alia, include the following:

i.	 All assets and liabilities including Income Tax and all other statutory liabilities, if any, of the Transferor 
Company will be transferred to and vest in the Transferee Company.
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ii.	 All the employees of the Transferor Company in service on the Effective Date, if any, shall become 
the employees of the Transferee Company on and from such date without any break or interruption 
in service and upon terms and conditions not less favorable than those subsisting in the Transferor 
Company on the said date.

iii.	 Appointed Date for Amalgamation will be April 1, 2020, or such other date, as the Hon’ble National 
Company Law Tribunal or any other competent authority may approve.

iv.	 Since the Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company, no new share 
will be issued by the Transferee Company pursuant to the Scheme of Amalgamation.

be and are hereby approved in specific.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT subject to the approval of the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal and/
or other competent authorities, if any, the  Scheme of Amalgamation of Highorbit Careers Private Limited with 
Info Edge (India) Limited, as placed in the meeting, be and is hereby approved.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of the Company (the“Board”) be and is hereby 
authorized to take necessary steps to obtain necessary approval(s) for the aforesaid Scheme and for effective 
implementation of the same, including but not limited to, to agree to such conditions or modifications (including 
the appointed date(s) etc.) that may be imposed, required or suggested by the Hon’ble National Company Law 
Tribunal, Principal Bench, New Delhi or any other authorities or that may otherwise be deemed fit or proper by 
the Board and to do all other acts, deeds or things which may be ancillary or incidental to the above mentioned 
matter or which may otherwise be required for the aforesaid Scheme.”

Take Further Notice that in pursuance of the said order, a meeting of the Unsecured Creditors of Info Edge 
(India) Limited is scheduled to be held through Video Conferencing (“VC”) on Monday, April 12, 2021, 
at 4:00 P.M. (IST), when you are requested to attend.

Facility of Remote E-voting will be available during the prescribed time period before the meeting, 
further facility of E-voting will also be available during the Unsecured Creditors’ meeting scheduled to be 
held through VC. Accordingly, Unsecured Creditors can vote through remote electronic means (without 
attending the VC meeting) instead of voting in the Unsecured Creditors’ meeting.

The Hon’ble Tribunal has appointed Mr. Rajeev Kumar, Advocate, as the Chairperson; Ms. Pragya Hindol, 
Advocate, as the Alternate Chairperson and Ms. Mallika Tayal, Company Secretary, as the Scrutinizer of the 
aforesaid meeting.

The voting rights of Unsecured Creditors shall be in proportion to the principal amount due to them as on 
closure of business hours on Wednesday, September 30, 2020 (“Cut-off Date”). The Unsecured Creditors may 
refer to notes to this notice for further details on Remote E-voting and Video Conferencing.

A copy each of the Explanatory Statement under sections 230 and 232 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
Companies (Compromises, Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules, 2016, and other applicable provisions, if 
any, the proposed Scheme of Amalgamation and other documents, if any, are enclosed. The proposed Scheme of 
Amalgamation, if approved in the meeting, will be subject to the subsequent approval of the Hon’ble National 
Company Law Tribunal, Principal Bench, New Delhi.

Dated  this 10th day of March, 2021
Place : New Delhi

Sd/-
Mr. Rajeev Kumar, Advocate

Chairperson of the meeting of Unsecured Creditors of 
Info Edge (India) Limited
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Notes:

1.	 In view of COVID-19 pandemic, the present meeting is proposed to be convened through Video 
Conferencing in terms of the Order passed by the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, the Guidelines 
issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs and the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, if 
any. Facility of Remote E-voting will be available during the prescribed time period before the meeting 
and through E-voting platform which will be available during the meeting.

2.	 Link Intime India Private Limited is appointed to provide Remote E-voting facility before the meeting and 
to provide the facility for convening the meeting through Video Conferencing; to handle and supervise 
the entire process of holding the meeting through Video Conferencing and to provide E-voting platform 
during the meeting, in a secured manner. Unsecured Creditors will be able to attend the meeting through 
Video Conferencing at https://instameet.linkintime.co.in by following the process and manner for 
attending the Meeting through ‘InstaMeet’ platform given at Note no. 19 of this Notice.

3.	 Notice of the meeting will be sent to all such Unsecured Creditors as on Wednesday, September 30, 2020.

4.	 Unsecured Creditors who have not registered their e-mail addresses, can get the same registered by 
sending the request to the Company at investors@naukri.com. 

5.	 In case of any difficulty in E-voting or attending the meeting through Video Conferencing etc., the 
following persons may be contacted:

Mr. Rajeev Ranjan
Assistant Vice President of Link Intime India Private 
Limited (Registrar & Transfer Agent)

For E-voting related queries:
Phone:022 –4918 6000
e-mail: enotices@linkintime.co.in

For Video Conferencing related queries:
Phone:022-49186175
e-mail: instameet@linkintime.co.in

Mr. Murlee Manohar Jain
Company Secretary of Info Edge (India) Limited

Phone: +91 1203082005
e-mail: investors@naukri.com

6.	 Only Unsecured Creditors of the Company may attend the meeting of Unsecured Creditors through Video 
Conferencing and vote through E-voting system. 

7.	 The Unsecured Creditors can opt only one mode for voting i.e. Remote E-voting or voting during the 
Meeting. Once the vote on the resolution is cast by Unsecured Creditor, he or she will not be allowed to 
change it subsequently.

8.	 Institutional/Corporate Unsecured Creditors (i.e. other than individuals/HUF, NRI, etc.) are  required 
to send a scanned copy (PDF/JPEG Format) of its Board Resolution or governing body Resolution/
Authorization etc., authorising its representative to attend the meeting and vote on its behalf pursuant to 
Section 113 of the Companies Act, 2013. The said Resolution/Authorization may be sent to the Scrutinizer 
at acsmallika42859@gmail.com.

9.	 In terms of Sections 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Scheme shall be considered approved 
by the Unsecured Creditors of the Applicant Company if the resolution mentioned above in the Notice 
have been approved at the Meeting by a majority of persons representing three-fourths in value of the 
Unsecured Creditors of the Applicant Company, voting in person, by authorized representative or through 
electronic means.

10.	 Please take note that since the meeting is proposed to be held through Video Conferencing, option 
of attending the meeting through proxy is not applicable/available.

11.	 Instructions for Remote E-voting and for attending the meeting through Video Conferencing are 
given at the end of this Notice at Note Nos. 18 & 19 respectively.

12.	 Voting may be made through Remote E-voting which will be available during the prescribed time period 
before the meeting (as given below) and through E-voting platform which will be available during the 
meeting:

3



Commencement of Remote E-voting Thursday, April 8, 2021 at 9:00 A.M. IST

End of Remote E-voting Sunday, April 11, 2021 at 5:00 P.M. IST

13.	 All the Unsecured Creditors will be entitled to attend the meeting through Video Conferencing.  However, 
the Unsecured Creditors who have already voted through the Remote E-voting process before the meeting, 
will not be entitled to vote at the meeting.

14.	 The quorum for the meeting of the Unsecured Creditors of Info Edge (India) Limited shall be 25 in 
number in person as fixed by the NCLT, Principal Bench, New Delhi. Unsecured Creditors attending the 
meeting through Video Conferencing shall be counted for the purpose of reckoning the quorum.

15.	 Notice of the meeting, Explanatory Statement and other documents are also being placed on the following 
website: 

Particulars Website address

Info Edge (India) Limited http://www.infoedge.in

BSE Limited http://www.bseindia.com

National Stock Exchange of India Limited http://www.nseindia.com

Link Intime India Pvt. Ltd.- Agency providing E-voting 
platform

https://instavote.linkintime.co.in

16.	 The notice convening the Meeting will be published through advertisement in Delhi editions of ‘Business 
Standard’ both in English and Hindi languages.

17.	 The scrutinizer will submit his combined report to the Chairman of the Meeting after completion of 
the scrutiny of the votes cast by the Unsecured Creditors of the Company through (i) Remote E-voting 
process; and (ii) voting during the Meeting by Video Conferencing. The scrutinizer’s decision on the 
validity of the votes shall be final.

18.	 Instructions for Remote E-voting
	 1. 	 Open the internet browser and launch the URL: https://instavote.linkintime.co.in

	 Those who are first time users of Link Intime India Pvt. Ltd. E-voting platform or holding shares 
in physical mode have to mandatorily generate their own Password, as under: 

		  •  	 Click on “Sign Up” under ‘SHARE HOLDER’ tab and register with your following details:
			  A.	 User ID: Enter your User ID. 
				   	 Your User ID is Event No. + Reference Number communicated to you separately.
			  B.	 PAN: 
					   Enter your 10-digit Permanent Account Number (PAN) (Creditors who have not updated their 

PAN with the Company shall use the sequence number provided to you, if applicable. 
			  C.	 DOB/DOI: Enter the Date of Birth (DOB) / Date of Incorporation (DOI) (As recorded with 

the Company - in DD/MM/YYYY format). 
			  D.	 Bank Account Number: Enter your Bank Account Number (last four digits), as recorded 

with the Company. 
		  • 	 Creditors who have not recorded ‘C’ and ‘D’, shall provide their Reference Number in ‘D’ above. 
		  •  	 Set the password of your choice (The password should contain minimum 8 characters, at least 

one special Character (@!#$&*), at least one numeral, at least one alphabet and at least one 
capital letter). 

		  •  	 Click “confirm” (Your password is now generated).

	 2. 	 Click on ‘Login’ under ‘SHARE HOLDER’ tab. 

4



	 3.	 Enter your User ID, Password and Image Verification (CAPTCHA) Code and click on ‘Submit’. 

	 4. 	 After successful login, you will be able to see the notification for E-voting. Select ‘View’ icon. 

	 5. 	 E-voting page will appear. 

	 6.	 Refer the Resolution description and cast your vote by selecting your desired option ‘Favour / 
Against’ (If you wish to view the entire Resolution details, click on the ‘View Resolution’ file link). 

	 7. 	 After selecting the desired option i.e. Favour / Against, click on ‘Submit’. A confirmation box will 
be displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, click on ‘Yes’, else to change your vote, click on ‘No’ 
and accordingly modify your vote. 

	 If you have forgotten the password: 

		  o	 Click on ‘Login’ under ‘SHARE HOLDER’ tab and further Click ‘forgot password?’ 

		  o	 Enter User ID, select Mode and Enter Image Verification (CAPTCHA) Code and Click on 
‘Submit’.

	 • 	 In case Creditor is having valid email address, Password will be sent to his / her registered e-mail 
address. 

	 • 	 Creditor can set the password of his/her choice by providing the information about the particulars of 
the Security Question and Answer, PAN, DOB/DOI, Bank Account Number (last four digits) etc. as 
mentioned above. 

	 • 	 The password should contain minimum 8 characters, at least one special character (@!#$&*), at least 
one numeral, at least one alphabet and at least one capital letter. 

	 • 	 It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any other person and take utmost care to 
keep your password confidential. 

	 During the voting period, Creditors can login any number of time till they have voted on the resolution(s) 
for a particular “Event”.

	 In case Creditors have any queries regarding E-voting, they may refer the Frequently Asked Questions 
(‘FAQs’) and InstaVote E-Voting manual available at https://instavote.linkintime.co.in, under Help 
section or send an email to enotices@linkintime.co.in or contact on: - Tel: 022 –4918 6000.

19. 	 PROCEDURE FOR JOINING THE MEETING THROUGH VIDEO CONFERENCING AND 
E-VOTING AT THE MEETING:

	 Process and manner for attending the Meeting through InstaMeet:

	  	 Open the internet browser and launch the URL: https://instameet.linkintime.co.in

				   •  	Select the “Company” and ‘Event Date’ and register with your following details: - 

				   A.	 Folio No.: Enter your Folio No. provided to you (Reference Number).

			   B.	 PAN: Enter your 10-digit Permanent Account Number (PAN) (Members who have not 
updated their PAN with the Company shall use the sequence number provided to you, if 
applicable. 

			   C.	 Mobile No.: Enter your mobile number. 

			   D.	 Email ID: Enter your email id, as recorded with the Company. 

		  •	 Click “Go to Meeting” (You are now registered for InstaMeet and your attendance is marked 
for the meeting). 
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Instructions for Creditors to Speak during the Meeting through InstaMeet:

1.	 Creditor who would like to speak during the meeting must register their request 3 days in advance i.e. 
Thursday, April 8, 2021 with the company on the email id i.e., investors@naukri.com. 

2.	 Creditors will get confirmation on first cum first basis depending upon the provision made by the Company. 

3.	 Creditors will receive “speaking serial number” once they mark attendance for the meeting.

4.	 Those Creditors who have registered themselves as a speaker will only be allowed to express their views/
ask questions during the meeting.

5.	 Please remember speaking serial number and start your conversation with panellist by switching on video 
mode and audio of your device.

	 Creditors are requested to speak only when moderator of the meeting/ management will announce the 
name and serial number for speaking.

Instructions for Creditors to Vote during the Meeting through InstaMeet:

Once the electronic voting is activated by the moderator during the meeting, Creditors who have not exercised 
their vote through the Remote E-voting can cast the vote as under:

1.	 On the Members VC page, click on the link for E-Voting “Cast your vote”.

2.	 Enter your Folio No. (Reference Number) and OTP (received on the registered mobile number/ registered 
email Id) received during registration for InstaMEET and click on ‘Submit’. 

3.	 After successful login, you will see “Resolution Description” and against the same the option “Favour/ 
Against” for voting. 

4.	 Cast your vote by selecting appropriate option i.e. “Favour/Against” as desired. 

5.	 After selecting the appropriate option i.e. Favour/Against as desired and you have decided to vote, click 
on “Save”. A confirmation box will be displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, click on “Confirm”, 
else to change your vote, click on “Back” and accordingly modify your vote. 

6.	 Once you confirm your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify or change your vote 
subsequently.

Note: 

1.	 Creditors are encouraged to join the Meeting through Tablets/ Laptops connected through broadband for 
better experience.

2.	 Creditors are required to use Internet with a good speed (preferably 2 MBPS download stream) to avoid 
any disturbance during the meeting.

3.	 Please note that Creditors connecting from Mobile Devices or Tablets or through Laptops connecting 
via Mobile Hotspot may experience Audio/Visual loss due to fluctuation in their network.  It is therefore 
recommended to use stable Wi-Fi or LAN connection to mitigate any kind of aforesaid glitches.

4.	 In case Creditors have any queries regarding login/ E-voting, they may send an email to instameet@
linkintime.co.in or contact on: - Tel: 022-49186175.

Encl.: As above
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BEFORE THE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL

PRINCIPAL BENCH, NEW DELHI

(ORIGINAL JURISDICTION)

COMPANY APPLICATION NO. CA (CAA) 127 (PB) OF 2020

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 (18 OF 2013)

SECTIONS 230 & 232 

AND

IN THE MATTER OF SCHEME OF AMALGAMATION

AND

IN THE MATTER OF

HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED
APPLICANT NO. 1/TRANSFEROR COMPANY

AND

INFO EDGE (INDIA) LIMITED
APPLICANT NO. 2/TRANSFEREE COMPANY

Explanatory Statement

(Under sections 230 & 232 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Compromises, Arrangements and 
Amalgamations) Rules, 2016, and other applicable provisions, if any)

1.	 A Joint  Application being CA (CAA) 127 (PB)  of 2020, was filed before the Hon’ble National Company 
Law Tribunal, Principal Bench, New Delhi (hereinafter referred to as “the Tribunal/NCLT”) under the 
provisions of sections 230 & 232 of the Companies Act, 2013, and other applicable provisions, if any, in 
connection with the proposed Scheme of Amalgamation of Highorbit Careers Private Limited with Info 
Edge (India) Limited (hereinafter referred to as “the Scheme of Amalgamation” or “this Scheme” or “the 
Scheme”) and other connected matters, if any.

2.	 Pursuant to the Order dated February 10, 2021 (date of pronouncement), passed by the Hon’ble Tribunal, 
in the above referred Company Application, separate meetings of Equity Shareholders, Secured Creditors 
and Un-secured Creditors of Info Edge (India) Limited are scheduled to be convened and held through 
Video Conferencing, on Monday, April 12, 2021, as per the following schedule, for the purpose of 
considering and, if thought fit, approving, the proposed Scheme of Amalgamation, at which time the said 
stakeholders are requested to attend:

S.No. Meetings of Info Edge (India) Limited Time
1. Equity Shareholders 2.00 P.M. IST

2. Secured Creditors 3.00 P.M. IST
3. Un-secured Creditors 4.00 P.M. IST
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3.	 Scheme of Amalgamation, inter alia, provides for the following:

a.	 Amalgamation of Highorbit Careers Private Limited with Info Edge (India) Limited.

b.	 Other matters connected with the aforesaid amalgamation.

A copy of the Scheme of Amalgamation setting out the terms and conditions of the proposed amalgamation 
and other connected matters, is enclosed with this Explanatory Statement.

4.	 Companies to the Scheme and their Background

4.1.	 The Applicant no. 1/the Transferor Company- Highorbit Careers Private Limited:

	 i.	 The Transferor Company - Highorbit Careers Private Limited (Corporate Identification No. 
(CIN):U72900DL2010PTC207653); Income Tax Permanent Account No. (PAN): AACCH5150K 
was incorporated under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, as a private limited company 
vide Certificate of Incorporation dated  August 30, 2010, issued by the Registrar of Companies, 
NCT of Delhi and Haryana, New Delhi.

	 ii.	 Presently, the Registered Office of the Applicant Transferor Company is situated at GF-12A, 94, 
Meghdoot Building, Nehru Place, New Delhi–110019; e-mail id: murlee.jain@naukri.com.

	 iii.	 The detailed objects of the Transferor Company are set out in the Memorandum of Association and 
are briefly stated as below:

1.	 To carry on the business of providing online recruitment services to MBAs, high profile 
professionals. 

2.	 To carry on business of developing software for professional services, business & industry of 
every type for both domestic as well international market.

	 iv.	 Transferor Company is engaged in the business of providing online classifieds, database, digital 
platform and recruitment solutions in the recruitment and employability vertical to small, medium 
and large enterprises and job seekers across different verticals particularly (in the case of www.
iimjobs.com) mid and senior management verticals and (in the case of www.hirist.com) engineering 
technology verticals and other related activities.

	 v.	 The Authorized Share Capital of the Transferor Company is `6,00,000 divided into 50,000 Equity 
Shares of `10 each aggregating to `5,00,000; and 10,000 (0.01%) Compulsorily Convertible 
Preference Shares of ̀ 10 each aggregating to ̀ 1,00,000. The Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Share 
Capital of the Company as on December 31, 2020 is `3,24,490 divided into 26,353 Equity Shares 
of `10 each aggregating to `2,63,530; and 6,096 (0.01%) Compulsorily Convertible Preference 
Shares of  `10 each aggregating to `60,960.

	 vi.	 Details of the present Board of Directors of the Company is given below:

Sl. No. Name & Address DIN Designation

1. Mr. Sanjeev Bikhchandani
N-42, Ground Floor, Panchsheel Park Malviya 
Nagar, Delhi 110017

00065640 Director

2. Mr. Hitesh Oberoi
B-49, Sector-44, Gautam Buddha Nagar 
Noida 201301

01189953 Director

3. Mr. Murlee Manohar Jain
C-26A, Anand Vihar, Main Najafgarh Road, 
Uttam Nagar, New Delhi-110059

05101562 Director
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4.2.	 The Applicant no. 2/Transferee Company-Info Edge (India) Limited

	 i.	 The Transferee Company - Info Edge (India) Limited [Corporate Identification No. (CIN): 
L74899DL1995PLC068021; Income Tax Permanent Account No. (PAN): AAACI1838D] was 
originally incorporated under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, as a private limited 
company with the name and style as ‘Info Edge (India) Private Limited’ vide Certificate of 
Incorporation dated May 1, 1995, issued by the Registrar of Companies, NCT of Delhi and 
Haryana, New Delhi. The Company was converted into a public limited company and the name of 
the Company was changed to its present name ‘Info Edge (India) Limited’ vide Fresh Certificate 
of Incorporation dated April 27, 2006, issued by the Registrar of Companies, New Delhi.

	 ii.	 Presently, the Registered Office of the applicant Transferee Company is situated at GF-12A 94, 
Meghdoot Building, Nehru Place, New Delhi-110 019; E-mail id: investors@naukri.com.

	 iii.	 The detailed objects of the Transferee Company are set out in the Memorandum of Association 
and are briefly stated as below:

1.	 To carry on the business of gathering, accumulating, organising, tabulating, managing, 
obtaining, collecting, purchase, acquisition, import, dissemination, disposal, export, sales 
and marketing of and trading In, all types of information, data, statistics, computer based 
information systems and data bases and library and information sciences, both in the form 
and nature in which the same may be so gathered, accumulated, organised, tabulated, 
obtained, imported, acquired, collected or purchased and also in all types of modified 
forms, formats, manner and nature.

2.	 To carry on the general business of providing comparative Information, data and statistics, 
with or without the aid or means of computer-based information ‘systems and data 
bases, In respect of the characteristics, trails, interest and other attributes of individuals, 
communities, organisations, countries, Institutions, departments companies, firms, or of 
any other social, economic, statutory, legal, artificial, cultural and similar units and of 
any article, commodity, product, service, patent, trademark, or of any other tangible or 
Intangible right, asset, property and of any social, economic or any other trend, affair or 
any such or other feature.

3.	 To carry on the business of preparing, making, drawing, formulating, purchase, acquisition, 
import, sale, disposal, export, marketing of and of trading in; all types of reports, summaries, 
conclusions, profiles, surveys and similar documents, papers and manuscripts and towards 
these purposes to carry on all activities, investigations, researches, purchases, sales, 
marketing, advertising.

4.	 To act as financial, management, marketing and project consultants and provide advice, 
services and consultancy in various fields like administrative, secretarial, commercial, 
financial, legal, economic, labour, Industrial, public relations, scientific, technical, business, 
feasibility reports, projects, joint ventures, foreign collaborations and market research.

	 iv.	 Transferee Company is engaged in the business of internet based service delivery operating in four 
service verticals through various web portals in respective verticals namely recruitment solutions 
comprising primarily naukri.com, other recruitment related portals and ancillary services related 
to recruitment, 99acres.com for real estate related services, jeevansathi.com for matrimony related 
services and shiksha.com for education related services.

	 v.	 The Authorized Share Capital of the Transferee Company is `150,00,00,000 divided into 
15,00,00,000 Equity Shares of `10 each. The Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Equity Share 
Capital of the Company as on December 31, 2020 is `128,58,41,200 divided into 12,85,84,120 
Equity Shares of `10 each.

	 vi.	 Detail of the present Board of Directors of the Company is given below:
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Sl. No. Name & Address DIN Designation
1. Mr. Hitesh Oberoi

B-49, Sector-44, Gautam Buddha Nagar, 
Noida-201301

01189953 Managing Director & 
Chief Executive Officer

2. Ms. Bala C Deshpande
C 2001/02, Rustomjee Seasons, Madhusudan 
Kalelkar Road, Gandhi Nagar, Bandra (E), 
Mumbai 400051

00020130 Independent Director

3. Mr. Sanjeev Bikhchandani
N-42, Ground Floor, Panchsheel Park, Malviya 
Nagar, Delhi- 110017

00065640 Executive Vice-Chairman & 
Whole time Director

4. Mr. Naresh Chand Gupta
House No.200, Sector-15A, Noida Gautam 
Buddha Nagar, Noida- 201301

00172311 Independent Director

5. Mr. Kapil Kapoor
Apartment 1083, Tower 15 HK Parkview 88, 
Taitam Reservoir Road Hong Kong 00000 CN

00178966 Non-Executive- Non 
Independent Director- 

Chairperson
6. Mr. Saurabh Srivastava

C-482, Defence Colony, Delhi-110024
00380453 Independent Director

7. Mr. Ashish Gupta
1734, Webster Street, Palo Alto, California,USA, 
943013853

00521511 Independent Director

8. Mr. Chintan Arvind Thakkar
C 377, 3rd Floor, Defence Colony, New 
Delhi-110024

00678173 Whole time Director & 
Chief Financial Officer

9. Ms. Geeta Mathur
B-1/8, Vasant Vihar-1, Delhi-110057

02139552 Independent Director

10. Mr. Sharad Malik
157 Broadmead Street, Princeton NJ 08540, USA

07045964 Independent Director

5.	 The Transferor Company is a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Transferee Company. Entire Share Capital 
of the Transferor Company is held by the Transferee Company and its nominee shareholders. Whereas the 
Transferee Company is a public limited company listed on BSE Ltd. (Bombay Stock Exchange/BSE) and 
National Stock Exchange of India Ltd. (National Stock Exchange/NSE).

6.	 Details of the Promoters: The Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee 
Company. Whereas the Transferee Company is a public listed company.

	 Details of the Promoter(s) & Promoter Group of Transferee Company is given below:

Sl. 
No.

Name Address

1. Mr. Sanjeev Bikhchandani N-42, Ground Floor, Panchsheel Park, Malviya Nagar, Delhi- 110017

2. Mr. Hitesh Oberoi B-49, Sector-44, Gautam Buddha Nagar, Noida-201301

3. Ms. Surabhi Motihar 
Bikhchandani

N-42, Ground Floor, Panchsheel Park, Malviya Nagar, Delhi- 110017

4. Mrs. Dayawanti Bikhchandani A-6, Swasthya Vihar, Vikas Marg, Delhi- 110092 

5. Mr. Sanjeev Bikhchandani & 
Mr. Hitesh Oberoi [Endeavour 
Holding Trust]

N-42, Ground Floor, Panchsheel Park, Malviya Nagar, Delhi- 110017
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7.	 The proposed Amalgamation of Highorbit Careers Private Limited with Info Edge (India) Limited, will 
be affected by the arrangement embodied in the Scheme of Amalgamation framed under sections 230 
& 232 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Companies (Compromises, Arrangements and Amalgamations) 
Rules, 2016, the National Company Law Tribunal Rules, 2016, and other applicable provisions, if any.

8.	 Relationship subsisting between Parties to the Scheme

The Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Applicant Company-2 / Transferee 
Company.

9.	 Rationale and Benefits of the Scheme:

The circumstances which justify and/or necessitate the present Scheme of Amalgamation of Highorbit 
Careers Private Limited with Info Edge (India) Limited are, inter alia, as follows:

	 i.	 Pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement dated May 27, 2019, the Transferee Company had 
acquired entire share capital of the Transferor Company on  June 25, 2019, with an objective to 
further consolidate its position in the online recruitment solutions segment where its flagship brand 
Naukri.com already has an established leadership position. The Transferor Company is presently a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Transferee Company. 

	 ii.	 Given the similarity in nature of businesses of the Transferor Company and the Transferee 
Company, it is proposed to merge the Transferor Company, with the Transferee Company. The 
merger shall result in greater business synergies and reduced administrative and other costs.  

	 iii.	 More specifically, merger of the Transferor Company with the Transferee Company would inter-
alia have the following benefits: 

a.	 Structured, sharper and better management focusing on holistic growth of the businesses;

b.	 Optimum and efficient utilization of resources and sharing of ancillary facilities; 

c.	 Common governance structure and effective management of compliances; 

d.	 Enhancing shareholder value and leveraging on synergies in doing the business; and 

e.	 Cost saving by way of reduction of overheads, administrative, managerial and other 
expenditure and to bring about operational rationalization and efficiency.

10.	 Salient features of the Scheme of Amalgamation

	 i.	 All assets and liabilities including Income Tax and all other statutory liabilities, if any, of the 
Transferor Company will be transferred to and vest in the Transferee Company.

	 ii.	 All the employees of the Transferor Company in service on the Effective Date, if any, shall become 
the employees of the Transferee Company on and from such date without any break or interruption 
in service and upon terms and conditions not less favorable than those subsisting in the Transferor 
Company on the said date.

	 iii.	 Appointed Date for Amalgamation will be April 1, 2020, or such other date, as the Hon’ble 
National Company Law Tribunal or any other competent authority may approve.

	 iv.	 Since the Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company, no new 
share will be issued by the Transferee Company pursuant to the Scheme of Amalgamation.

11.	 Extracts of the Scheme: Extracts of the selected clauses of the Scheme are reproduced below in italics 
(points/clauses referred to in this part are of the Scheme of Amalgamation):

1.	 DEFINITIONS

In this Scheme, unless repugnant to the meaning or context thereof, (i) terms defined in the introductory 
paragraphs and recitals shall have the same meanings throughout this Scheme and (ii) the following 
words and expressions, wherever used (including in the recitals and the introductory paragraphs 
above), shall have the following meanings:
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1.1.	 “Act” or “the Act” means the Companies Act, 2013 and applicable rules made thereunder 
and includes any amendments, statutory re-enactments and modifications thereof for the time 
being in force;

1.3.	 “Appointed Date” for the purpose of this Scheme and for IT Act (as defined hereinafter) 
the “Appointed Date” means 1st April, 2020 or such other date as may be approved by the 
Tribunal (as defined hereinafter);

1.4.	 “Board of Directors” or “Board” means and includes the respective Boards of Directors of 
the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company or any committee constituted by such 
Board of Directors for the purposes of the Scheme;

1.5.	 “Effective Date” means the date or last of the dates on which certified copy of the order of 
the Tribunal sanctioning this Scheme is filed with the Registrar of Companies, Delhi and 
Haryana, by the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company, being the date from 
which such order shall become effective. Any references in the Scheme to “upon the Scheme 
becoming effective” or “effectiveness of the Scheme” or “Scheme coming into effect” shall 
mean the “Effective Date”.

1.11.	 “Registrar of Companies” or “RoC, Delhi” means the Registrar of Companies, National 
Capital Territory of Delhi and Haryana situated at New Delhi;

1.12.	 “Scheme of Amalgamation” or “Scheme” or “the Scheme” or “this Scheme” means this 
Scheme of Amalgamation involving amalgamation of the Transferor Company into and with 
the Transferee Company, pursuant to the provisions of sections 230 to 232 and other applicable 
provisions of the Act, in its present form or with any modification(s) made pursuant to the 
provisions of this Scheme by the Board of Directors of the Companies and/ or as approved or 
directed by the Tribunal, as the case may be;

1.13.	 “Stock Exchanges” means the BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of India Limited;

1.15.	 “Tribunal” or “NCLT” means the National Company Law Tribunal, New Delhi Bench or 
any other Bench of the NCLT having jurisdiction in relation to the Transferor Company and 
the Transferee Company;

5.	 TRANSFER AND VESTING OF BUSINESS OF THE TRANSFEROR COMPANY

5.1	 Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date, the entire business 
and whole of the Undertaking of the Transferor Company shall, pursuant to order of the Tribunal 
sanctioning the Scheme under the provisions of section 230 to 232 of the Act, and other applicable 
provisions of the law for time being in force, including Section 2(1B) of the IT Act, without any further 
act, instrument or deed, stand transferred to and vested in or deemed to have been transferred to 
and vested in the Transferee Company on and from the Appointed Date, as a going concern, so as to 
become, as and from the Appointed Date, the assets and liabilities of the Transferee Company and to 
vest in the Transferee Company all the rights, title, interest or obligations of the Transferor Company 
therein. 

6.	 VESTING OF ASSETS

6.1	 Without prejudice to the generality of Clause 5.1 above, upon the coming into effect of this Scheme 
and with effect from the Appointed Date, all the estate, assets, properties, IPR, license, rights, claims, 
title, interest and authorities including accretions and appurtenances comprised in the Transferor 
Company, of whatsoever nature and where so ever situate shall, under the provisions of Sections 230 
to 232 of the Act and all other applicable provisions of Applicable Law, if any, without any further 
act or deed, be and stand transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company and/or be deemed to 
be transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company as a going concern so as to become, as and 
from the Appointed Date, the estate, assets, properties, IPR, License, rights, claims, title, interest and 
authorities of the Transferee Company.

6.2	 Without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 6.1 above, in respect of such of the assets and properties 
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of the Transferor Company as are movable in nature or incorporeal property or are otherwise capable 
of vesting or transfer by delivery or possession, or by endorsement and/or delivery, the same shall 
stand so transferred or vested by the Transferor Company upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, 
and shall, become the assets and property of the Transferee Company with effect from the Appointed 
Date pursuant to the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act, without requiring any deed or 
instrument of conveyance for transfer or vesting of the same.

6.3	 In respect of such of the assets and properties belonging to the Transferor Company (other than 
those referred to in Clause 6.2 above) including sundry debtors, receivables, bills, credits, loans and 
advances, if any, whether recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received, bank balances, 
investments, earnest money and deposits with any government, quasi government, local or other 
authority or body or with any company or other person, the same shall stand transferred to and vested 
in the Transferee Company and/or be deemed to have been transferred to and vested in the Transferee 
Company, without any further act, instrument or deed, cost or charge and without any notice or other 
intimation to any third party, upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and with effect from the 
Appointed Date pursuant to the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act.

6.4	 Any and all immovable properties, whether free hold, on lease or under a contractual entitlement, 
if any, of the Transferor Company, and any documents of title/ rights and easements or otherwise in 
relation thereto shall be vested in and transferred to and/ or be deemed to have been transferred to 
and vested in the Transferee Company and shall belong to the Transferee Company in the same and 
like manner as was entitled to the Transferor Company. It is hereby clarified that all the rights, title 
and interest of the Transferor Company in any leasehold properties shall, without any further act, 
instrument or deed, be vested in or be deemed to have been vested in the Transferee Company.

6.5	 All assets, rights, title, interest, investments and properties of the Transferor Company as on the 
Appointed Date, whether or not included in the books of the Transferor Company, and all assets, 
rights, title, interest, investments and properties, which are acquired by the Transferor Company on 
or after the Appointed Date but prior to the Effective Date, shall be deemed to be and shall become 
the assets, rights, title, interest, investments and properties of the Transferee Company, and shall 
under the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 and all other applicable provisions, if any, of the Act, 
without any further act, instrument or deed, be and stand transferred to and vested in and be deemed 
to have been transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company upon the coming into effect of this 
Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date, pursuant to the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of 
the Act.

6.6	 All licenses necessary to carry on the operations of the Transferor Company shall stand transferred to 
and be vested in the Transferee Company, without any further act or deed by the Transferor Company 
or the Transferee Company and be in full force and effect in favour of the Transferee Company, as if 
the same were originally given to, issued to or executed in favour of the Transferee Company and the 
Transferee Company shall be bound by the terms thereof, the obligations and duties there under, and 
the rights and benefits under the same shall be available to the Transferee Company. The Transferor 
Company and/or the Transferee Company shall file intimations, applications and/or necessary 
clarifications and documents with the relevant authorities, who shall take the same on record, or 
undertake necessary actions as may be required for having the licenses vested or transferred to the 
Transferee Company.

Without prejudice to the above, it is clarified that with respect to any licenses that may require an 
amendment for the purpose of giving effect to this Scheme and to ensure that there is no change in 
the entitlements which were otherwise available to the Transferor Company in the absence of this 
Scheme, the Transferee Company shall be permitted to use the licenses of the Transferor Company till 
the same are so amended and updated, so as to enable the Transferee Company to continue to avail 
the entitlements otherwise available to the Transferor Company.

6.7	 All the profits or Taxes (including advance tax, tax deducted at source, foreign tax credits and MAT 
credit), or benefits, indirect tax credits or refunds due, GST set off or any costs, charges, expenditure 
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accruing to the Transferor Company or expenditure or losses arising or incurred or suffered by 
the Transferor Company shall for all purpose be treated and be deemed to be and accrue as the 
profits, Taxes (namely advance tax, tax deducted at source foreign tax credits and MAT credit), or 
benefits, indirect tax credits or refunds due, GST set off, or any costs, charges, expenditure or losses 
of Transferee Company, as the case may be upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and with effect 
from the Appointed Date pursuant to the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act.

7.	 CONTRACTS, DEEDS ETC.

7.1	 Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, and subject to the provisions of this Scheme, contracts and 
other instruments of whatsoever nature, to which the Transferor Company is a party or to the benefit 
of which Transferor Company may be eligible, and which are subsisting or have effect immediately 
before the Effective Date, shall continue in full force and effect on or against or in favour of, as the 
case may be, the Transferee Company and may be enforced as fully and effectually as if, instead of the 
Transferor Company concerned, the Transferee Company had been a party or beneficiary or oblige 
thereto or thereunder.

7.2	 Without prejudice to the other provisions of this Scheme and notwithstanding that vesting of the 
assets occur by virtue of this Scheme itself, the Transferee Company may, at any time after the coming 
into effect of this Scheme, in accordance with the provisions hereof, if so required under any law or 
otherwise, take such actions and execute such deeds (including deeds of adherence), confirmations 
or other writings or arrangements with any party to any contract or arrangement to which the 
Transferor Company is a party or any writings as may be necessary in order to give formal effect 
to the provisions of this Scheme. The Transferee Company shall, after the Effective Date, under the 
provisions of this Scheme, be deemed to be authorised to execute any such writings on behalf of the 
Transferor Company and to carry out or perform all such formalities or compliances referred to 
above on the part of the Transferor Company to be carried out or performed.

7.3	 Any inter-se contracts between the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company shall stand 
cancelled and cease to operate upon the coming into effect of this Scheme. It is hereby expressly 
clarified that any transaction document entered in relation to acquisition of the Transferor Company 
by the Transferee Company shall be deemed to be cancelled only to that limited extent as far as they 
affect inter-se rights and / or obligations of Transferor Company and the Transferee Company. The 
Scheme shall not impact rights and / or obligations of the Transferor Company or the Transferee 
Company against any third party.

7.4	 Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and 
with effect from the Appointed Date, all consents, permissions, certificates, clearances, authorities, 
powers of attorney given by, issued to or executed in favour of the Transferor Company shall stand 
transferred to the Transferee Company as if the same were originally given by, issued to or executed 
in favour of the Transferee Company, and the Transferee Company shall be bound by the terms 
thereof, the obligations and duties thereunder, and the rights and benefits under the same shall be 
available to the Transferee Company.

8.	 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS	

8.1	 All Intellectual Property Rights of the Transferor Company shall stand transferred to and be vested 
in the Transferee Company and be in full force and effect in favour of the Transferee Company and 
may be enforced by or against it as fully and effectually as if, instead of the Transferor Company, 
the Transferee Company had been a party or beneficiary thereto.  The Transferor Company and/
or the Transferee Company shall file intimations, applications and/or necessary clarifications and 
documents with the relevant authorities, who shall take the same on record, or undertake necessary 
actions as may be required for having the Intellectual Property Rights vested or transferred to the 
Transferee Company.
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9.	 EMPLOYEES OF THE TRANSFEROR COMPANY

9.1	 All employees of the Transferor Company shall be deemed to have become the employees and 
staff of the Transferee Company with effect from the Effective Date, and shall stand transferred to 
the Transferee Company without any interruption of service and on terms and conditions no less 
favourable than those on which they are engaged by the Transferor Company as on the Effective Date, 
including in relation to the level of remuneration and contractual and statutory benefit, incentive 
plans, terminal benefits, gratuity plans, provident fund plans and any other retirement benefits.

9.2	 Services of all employees with the Transferor Company prior to their transfer, shall be taken into 
account for the purposes of all benefits to be given by the Transferee Company to which such 
employees may be eligible, including in relation to the level of remuneration and contractual and 
statutory benefits, incentive plans, terminal benefits, gratuity plans, provident fund plans and other 
retirement benefits and accordingly, shall be reckoned from the date of their respective appointment 
in the Transferor Company. The Transferee Company undertakes to pay the same, as and when 
payable under Applicable Laws.

9.3	 For avoidance of doubt, in relation to those employees for whom the Transferor Company is making 
contributions to the government/statutory employee provident and pension fund, the Transferee 
Company shall stand substituted for the Transferor Company for all purposes whatsoever, including 
in relation to the obligation to make contributions to such funds in accordance with the provisions of 
such funds, bye-laws, etc. in respect of the employees.

9.4	 All contributions made by the Transferor Company on behalf of the employees and all contributions 
made by the employees including the interests arising thereon, to the funds and standing to the 
credit of such employees’ account with such funds, shall, upon the Scheme becoming effective, be 
transferred to the funds maintained by the Transferee Company along with such of the investments 
made by such funds which are referable and allocable to the employees without any separate act or 
deed/ approval, and the Transferee Company shall stand substituted for the Transferor Company 
with regard to the obligation to make the said contributions.  

The Transferor Company or the Transferee Company shall, where applicable, take all steps necessary 
for the transfer of funds, to the Transferee Company. Pending such transfer, the contributions required 
to be made in respect of these employees shall continue to be made by the Transferee Company to the 
existing funds maintained by the Transferor Company.

9.5	 The terms and conditions of service applicable to the employees on the Effective Date will not in any 
way be less favorable to them than those applicable to them immediately before the Effective Date.

9.6	 The contributions made by the Transferor Company under Applicable Law in connection with the 
employees, to the funds, for the period after the Appointed Date shall be deemed to be contributions 
made by the Transferee Company.

9.7	 The Transferee Company shall continue to abide by the agreement(s) and settlement(s), if any, entered 
into or deemed to have been entered into with the employees of the Transferor Company in terms of 
such agreement(s) and settlement(s) subsisting on the Effective Date, in relation to the employees.

9.8	 All obligations of the Transferor Company with regard to the said fund or funds as defined in the 
relevant rules shall be taken over by the Transferee Company from the Effective Date to the end and 
intent that all rights, duties, powers and obligations of the Transferor Company in relation to such 
fund or funds shall become those of the Transferee Company and all the rights, duties and benefits of 
the employees employed in the Transferor Company under such funds shall be fully protected, subject 
to the provisions of law for the time being in force.

10.	 TRANSFER AND VESTING OF LIABILITIES

10.1	 Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date all the liabilities 
of the Transferor Company including all secured and unsecured debts (in whatsoever currency), 
liabilities (including contingent Liabilities), duties and obligations of the Transferor Company of 
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every kind, nature and description whatsoever whether present or future, and howsoever arising, 
along with any charge, encumbrance, lien or security thereon shall, pursuant to the sanction of 
this Scheme by the Tribunal and under the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act and other 
applicable provisions, if any, of the Act, without any further act, instrument, deed, matter or thing, be 
and stand transferred to and vested in and be deemed to have been transferred to and vested in the 
Transferee Company, to the extent they are outstanding on the Effective Date so as to become as and 
from the Appointed Date the liabilities of the Transferee Company on the same terms and conditions 
as were applicable to the Transferor Company, and the Transferee Company shall meet, discharge 
and satisfy the same and further it shall not be necessary to obtain the consent of any third party or 
other person who is a party to any contract or arrangement by virtue of which such liabilities have 
arisen in order to give effect to this Scheme.

10.2	 Where any such debts, liabilities, duties and obligations of the Transferor Company as on the 
Appointed Date have been discharged by such Transferor Company on or after the Appointed Date 
and prior to the Effective Date, such discharge shall be deemed to be for and on account of the 
Transferee Company upon the coming into effect of this Scheme.

10.3	 All loans raised and utilized and all liabilities, duties and obligations incurred or undertaken by the 
Transferor Company on or after the Appointed Date and prior to the Effective Date shall be deemed 
to have been raised, used, incurred or undertaken for and on behalf of the Transferee Company and 
to the extent they are outstanding on the Effective Date, shall, upon the coming into effect of this 
Scheme and under the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act, without any further act, instrument 
or deed be stand transferred to and vested in and be deemed to have been transferred to and vested 
in the Transferee Company and shall become the loans and liabilities, duties and obligations of the 
Transferee Company which shall meet, discharge and satisfy the same.

10.4	 With effect from the Effective Date, the borrowing limits of Transferee Company shall be deemed 
without any further act or deed to have been enhanced by the borrowing limits of Transferor Company 
pursuant to the Scheme, such limits being incremental to the existing limits of Transferee Company, 
with effect from the Effective Date.

10.5	 Loans, advances and other obligations (including any guarantees, letters of credit, letters of comfort 
or any other instrument or arrangement which may give rise to a contingent liability in whatever 
form), if any, due or which may at any time from the Appointed Date to the Effective Date become due 
between the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company shall, ipso facto, stand discharged 
and come to an end and there shall be no liability in that behalf on any party and the appropriate 
effect shall be given in the books of accounts and records of the Transferee Company.

11.	 LEGAL AND OTHER SUCH PROCEEDINGS

11.1	 Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, all proceedings, suits, actions, and other proceedings 
including legal and taxation proceedings, (including before any statutory or quasi judicial authority 
or tribunal) by or against the Transferor Company pending on the Effective Date shall be continued 
and/ or enforced by or against the Transferee Company as effectually and in the same manner and to 
the same extent as if the same had been instituted by or against the Transferee Company.

11.2	 If any proceeding, suit, appeal or other proceeding of whatever nature by or against the Transferor 
Company is pending, the same shall not abate or be discontinued or in any way be prejudicially 
affected by reason of or by anything contained in this Scheme, but the said proceedings, suit, appeal 
or other legal proceedings may be continued, prosecuted and enforced by or against Transferee 
Company, as the case may be, in the same manner and to the same extent as it would or might have 
been continued, prosecuted and enforced by or against the Transferor Company as if this Scheme had 
not been made.

11.3	 In case of any proceedings, litigation, suits, recovery proceedings which are to be initiated or may be 
initiated against the Transferor Company, the Transferee Company shall be made party thereto and 
any payment and expenses made thereto shall be the liability of the Transferee Company.
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11.4	 The Transferee Company also undertakes to pay all amounts including interest, penalties, damages, 
etc., which the Transferor Company may be called upon to pay or secure in respect of any liability 
or obligation relating to the Transferor Company for the period from the Appointed Date up to the 
Effective Date and any costs incurred by the Transferor Company in respect of such proceedings 
started by or against it relatable to the period from the Appointed Date up to the Effective Date upon 
submission of necessary evidence by the Transferor Company to the Transferee Company for making 
such payment.

11.5	 Without prejudice to other clauses within this Scheme, with effect from the Appointed Date, all inter-
party transactions between the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company shall be considered 
as intra-party transactions for all purposes from the Appointed Date.

14.	 CONSIDERATION AND CANCELLATION OF SHARE CAPITAL OF THE TRANSFEROR 
COMPANY

14.1	 As the Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company, the entire 
issued, subscribed and paid up share capital of the Transferor Company is held by the Transferee 
Company. Upon this Scheme becoming effective, the Transferee Company would not be required to 
issue and allot any shares to the shareholders of the Transferor Company. 

14.2	 Entire Issued Share Capital and share certificates of the Transferor Company shall automatically 
stand cancelled.

The aforesaid are the salient features/selected extracts of the Scheme of Amalgamation. Please read the 
entire text of the Scheme of Amalgamation to get acquainted with the complete provisions of the Scheme.

12.	 The proposed Scheme of Amalgamation is for the benefit of both the Companies, their Shareholders and 
other stakeholders. It is fair and reasonable and is not detrimental to the interest of the public. It is not 
prejudicial to any person.

13.	 As mentioned above, since the Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee 
Company, no new share will be issued by the Transferee Company pursuant to the Scheme of 
Amalgamation.  Accordingly, Report on Valuation of Shares and Share Exchange Ratio is not required/
applicable in the present case.

14.	 The proposed Scheme of Amalgamation has been unanimously approved by the respective Board of 
Directors of the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company in the respective Board meetings held 
on  November 9, 2020  and November 10, 2020. None of the Directors voted against or abstained from 
voting on the resolution for approving the Scheme of Amalgamation in the aforesaid meetings.

15.	 The Transferee Company is listed on BSE and NSE. It may, however, be noted that since the present 
Scheme solely provides for amalgamation of a Wholly Owned Subsidiary with its Holding Company, 
no formal approval, NOC or vetting is required from the Stock Exchange(s) or SEBI for the Scheme, 
in terms of the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, read with the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) (Amendment) Regulations, 2017, SEBI Circular No. 
CFD/DIL3/CIR/2017/21 dated  March 10, 2017 and other applicable provisions, if any.

The Transferee Company has already filed copy of the Scheme of Amalgamation and other requisite 
documents, if any, with BSE and NSE.

16.	 The present Scheme of Amalgamation, if approved in the aforesaid meetings, will be subject to the 
subsequent approval of the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Principal Bench, New Delhi. No 
specific approval is required to be obtained from any other government authority to the present Scheme 
of Amalgamation.

17.	 No proceedings for inspection, inquiry or investigation under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, 
or under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, are pending against the Transferor Company and 
the Transferee Company.
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18.	 No winding up petition is pending against the Transferee Company and the Transferor Company.
19.	 Effect of the Scheme on the Promoters, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel, Shareholders, etc.:
19.1	 Transferor Company

a.	 The Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company, hence, there 
are no non-promoter shareholders in the Transferor Company. The effectiveness of the Scheme 
shall have no adverse impact on the equity and preference shareholders of the Transferor Company.

b.	 Upon effectiveness of the Scheme, the Transferor Company shall stand dissolved without winding 
up and accordingly, its Board of Directors shall cease to exist.

c.	 None of the directors, the KMPs of the Transferor Company, if any and their respective ‘Relatives’ 
(as defined under the Companies Act, 2013 and rules formed thereunder) have any material 
interests, financial or otherwise in the Scheme.

19.2	 Transferee Company
a.	 The Transferee Company has only one class of shareholders, i.e. equity shareholders. The 

effectiveness of the Scheme will have no impact on the shareholders of the Transferee Company. 
Accordingly, the shareholders of the Transferee Company shall continue to be the shareholders of 
the Transferee Company, even after the effectiveness of the Scheme.

b.	 The effectiveness of the Scheme will have no impact on the KMPs / Board of Directors of the 
Company. The KMPs / Board of Directors of the Company shall continue to be the KMPs / Board 
of Directors of the Company, even after the effectiveness of the Scheme.

c.	 None of the directors, the KMPs of the Company and their respective ‘Relatives’ (as defined under 
the Act and rules formed thereunder) have any material interests, financial or otherwise in the 
Scheme.

20.	 Shareholding of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel
A.	 Details of Shareholding of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel of the Transferor Company in 

the Transferee Company, either singly or jointly or as nominee, is as under:

Sl.
No.

Name of Directors & KMP and their 
Designation

No. of Shares held as on 31.12.2020
Transferor Company Transferee Company 

1. Mr. Sanjeev Bikhchandani, Director - 31,699,159 
2. Mr. Hitesh Oberoi, Director - 6,497,108 
3. Mr. Murlee Manohar Jain, Director 1 (Equity Share as a 

nominee shareholder 
of Info Edge (India) 

Limited)

803 

B.	 Details of present Shareholding of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel of the Transferee 
Company in the Transferor Company, either singly or jointly or as nominee, is as under:

Sl.
No.

Name of Directors & KMP and their 
Designation

No. of Shares held as on 31.12.2020
Transferee Company Transferor Company 

1. Ms. Bala C Deshpande – Independent 
Director

53,349 -

2. Mr. Sanjeev Bikhchandani – Executive Vice-
Chairman & Whole time Director

31,699,159 -

3. Mr. Naresh Chand Gupta – Independent 
Director

- -

4. Mr. Kapil Kapoor – Non-Executive- Non 
Independent Director- Chairman 

2,416,159 -
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5. Mr. Saurabh Srivastava – Independent 
Director

- -

6. Mr. Ashish Gupta – Independent Director 51,123 -
7. Mr. Chintan Arvind Thakkar – Whole time 

Director & Chief Financial Officer
22,855 1 (Equity Share as a 

nominee shareholder of 
Info Edge (India) Limited)

8. Mr. Hitesh Oberoi – Managing Director &  
Chief Executive Officer

6,497,108 -

9. Ms. Geeta Mathur – Independent Director 125 -
10. Mr. Sharad Malik – Independent Director 525,000 -

11. Mr. Murlee Manohar Jain – 
Company Secretary

803 1 (Equity Share as a 
nominee shareholder of 

Info Edge (India) Limited)
21.	 Pre-Scheme Share Capital Structure

A.  The Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company. Pre-Scheme Share 
Capital Structure (as on December 31, 2020) of the Transferor Company is given below:

Particulars No. of Shares Amount (`)
Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Equity Share Capital (of 
`10/- each)

26,353 2,63,530

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Compulsorily Convertible 
Preference Share Capital (of `10/- each)

6,096 60,960

B. Pre-Scheme Share Capital Structure (as on December 31, 2020) of the Transferee Company is given 
below:

Particulars No. of Shares Amount (`)
Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Equity Share Capital (of    
`10 each)

12,85,84,120 1,28,58,41,200

22.	 Post-Scheme Share Capital Structure

A.	 In terms of the provisions of the Scheme, the Transferor Company will be merged with the Transferee 
Company. On the Scheme become effective, the Transferor Company will be dissolved without the 
process of winding up.

B.	 Since the Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company, no new shares 
will be issued pursuant to the Scheme of Amalgamation. Hence there will not be any change in the 
post Scheme issued and paid-up share capital of the Transferee Company. Post-Scheme Share Capital 
Structure of the Transferee Company is given below:

Particulars No. of Shares * Amount (`)
Post-Scheme Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Equity 
Share Capital  (of `10 each)

12,87,84,120 1,28,78,41,200

* 2,00,000 shares allotted to Info Edge Employees Stock Option Plan Trust on February 26, 2021.

23.	 Pre and Post Scheme Shareholding Pattern

A.	 Pre-Scheme Equity Shareholding Pattern (as on December 31, 2020) of the Transferor Company is given 
below:
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Sl.
No.

Category Pre-Scheme
No. of fully paid up Equity 

Shares of `10/- each
% of total  equity 

share capital

A Promoters & Promoters’ Group 26,353 100
  Total Shareholding of Promoters & 

Promoters’ Group (A)
26,353 100

B Public Shareholding - -
  Total Public Shareholding (B) - -
  Total (A+B) 26,353 100

B.	 Pre-Scheme Preference Shareholding Pattern (as on December 31, 2020) of the Transferor Company is 
given below:

Sl.
No.

Category Pre-Scheme
No. of fully paid up 

0.01% Compulsorily 
Convertible Preference 

Shares of `10/- each

% of total  0.01% 
Compulsorily 
Convertible 

Preference Share 
Capital

A Promoters & Promoters’ Group 6,096 100
  Total Shareholding of Promoters & 

Promoters’ Group (A)
6,096 100

B Public Shareholding - -
  Total Public Shareholding (B) - -
  Total (A+B) 6,096 100

C.	 Pre-Scheme (as on December 31, 2020) and Post-Scheme Equity Shareholding Pattern of the Transferee 
Company is given below:

Sl.
No.

Category Pre-Scheme Post-Scheme
No. of fully paid 
up Equity Shares 

of `10/- each

% of total  
equity share 

capital

No. of fully paid 
up Equity Shares 

of `10/- each

% of total  
equity share 

capital
A Promoters & 

Promoters’ Group
4,94,64,732 38.47 4,94,64,732 38.41

  Total Shareholding 
of Promoters & 
Promoters’ Group (A)

4,94,64,732 38.47 4,94,64,732 38.41

B Public Shareholding 7,89,75,688 61.42 7,89,75,688 61.32
  Total Public 

Shareholding (B)
7,89,75,688 61.42 7,89,75,688 61.32

C Non Promoter - Non 
Public

1,43,700 0.11 3,43,700* 0.27

Total Non Promoter - 
Non Public (C)

1,43,700 0.11 3,43,700* 0.27

  Total (A+B+C) 12,85,84,120 100 12,87,84,120* 100
*2,00,000 shares allotted to Info Edge Employees Stock Option Plan Trust on February 26, 2021.

24.	 A copy of the Scheme of Amalgamation is being filed with the concerned Registrar of Companies and 
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other requisite authorities.

25.	 Copies of the latest Audited Financial Statements of the Transferor Company and Transferee Company 
for the year ended  March 31, 2020, along with the Auditors’ Reports thereon, are enclosed herewith.

26.	 Copies of the Un-audited Financial Statements (provisional) of the Transferor Company and Transferee 
Company for the period ended September 30, 2020, are also enclosed herewith.

27.	 Total amount due to Un-secured Creditors (excluding Statutory and Other Dues), as on  September 30, 
2020, is given below:

Sl. No. Un-secured Creditors of Amount

1. Highorbit Careers Private Limited Nil

2. Info Edge (India) Limited 1,02,69,504

28.	 Total amount due to Secured Creditors, as on September 30, 2020, is given below:

Sl. No. Secured Creditors of Amount
1. Highorbit Careers Private Limited Nil
2. Info Edge (India) Limited 40,86,723

29.	 The following documents will be available for inspection or for obtaining extracts from or for making or 
obtaining copies of, by the members and creditors at the registered office of the Transferor Company and 
the Transferee Company on any working day from the date of this notice till the date of meeting between 
11:00 A.M. and 4:00 P.M.:

a.	 The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Transferor Company and the Transferee 
Company.

b.	 The Audited Financial Statements of the Transferor Company and Transferee Company for the last 
3 years ended March 31, 2018, March 31, 2019 and  March 31, 2020.

c.	 The Un-audited Financial Statements (provisional) of the Transferor Company and Transferee 
Company for the period ended September 30, 2020.

d.	 Register of Particulars of Directors and KMP and their Shareholding, of the Transferor Company 
and the Transferee Company.

e.	 Copy of the proposed Scheme of Amalgamation.

f.	 Paper Books and proceedings of the Company Application No. CA (CAA) 127(PB) of 2020.

g.	 Copy of Order dated February 10, 2021 (date of pronouncement), passed by the Hon’ble National 
Company Law Tribunal, Principal Bench, New Delhi, in the  Company Application No. CA (CAA) 
127 (PB)  of 2020 filed by the Applicant Companies, in pursuance of which the aforesaid meeting 
is scheduled to be convened.

h.	 Copies of the Certificates issued by the Statutory Auditors of the Transferor Company and the 
Transferee Company to the effect that the accounting treatment proposed in the Scheme of 
Amalgamation is in conformity with the Accounting Standards prescribed under Section 133 of 
the Companies Act, 2013.

30.	 A copy of the Scheme of Amalgamation, Explanatory Statement and other annexures may be obtained 
free of charge on any working day (except Saturday) prior to the date of meetings, from the registered 
office of the Transferee Company; or from the office of their Legal Counsel-Mr. Rajeev K Goel, 
Advocate, M/s. Rajeev Goel & Associates, Advocates and Solicitors, 785, Pocket-E, Mayur Vihar-II, 
Delhi Meerut Expressway/ NH-9, Delhi-110 091, India, Mobile: 093124 09354, e-mail: rajeev391@
gmail.com; Website: http://www.rgalegal.in. 

31.	 Notice of the meetings, Explanatory Statement and other documents are also being placed on the 

21



following websites:

Particulars Website address

Info Edge (India) Limited http://www.infoedge.in

BSE Limited https://www.bseindia.com

National Stock Exchange of India Limited https://www.nseindia.com

 Link Intime India Pvt. Ltd. (E voting Agency) https://instavote.linkintime.co.in

32.	 Please take note that since all the meetings are proposed to be held through Video Conferencing, 
option of attending these meetings through proxy is not applicable/available.  

33.	 Facility of Remote E-voting will be available during the prescribed time period before the meeting 
as given in the notice of these meetings. E-voting system will also be available during the meeting. 
Instructions for voting through electronic means is being sent along with the notice of meetings.

Dated this 10th day of March, 2021
Place: New Delhi

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
of Highorbit Careers Private Limited	 of Info Edge (India) Limited

     Sd/-		  Sd/-

Murlee Manohar Jain	 Chintan Arvind Thakkar
Director	 Whole-time Director & CFO
DIN: 05101562	 DIN: 00678173
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Info Edge (India) Ltd
CIN: L74899DL1995PLC068021 

Registered Office: Ground Floor, GF-12A, Meghdoot Building

94, Nehru Place, New Delhi-110019
Tel.:0120-3082000; Fax:0120-3082095

E-mail:investors@naukri.com; Website:www.infoedge.in

ANNEXURES TO THE NOTICE CONVENING THE MEETING

Sl.

No.

Contents

1. Scheme of Amalgamation between Highorbit Careers Private Limited and Info 

Edge (India) Limited and their respective shareholders and creditors under 
sections 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Scheme”).

2. Copy of order of the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal in pursuance of 

which the meeting is to be convened.

3. Copies of the Audited Financial Statements of Highorbit Careers Private 
Limited and Info Edge (India) Limited for the year ended 31st March, 2020.

4. Copies of Un-audited Financial Statements (provisional)of Highorbit Careers 
Private Limited and Info Edge (India) Limited for the period ended 30th

September, 2020.

5. Certificate issued by Statutory Auditors of Highorbit Careers Private Limited 
and Info Edge (India) Limited that the accounting treatment specified in the 

Scheme is in conformity with the accounting standards prescribed under 
Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013.

6. Copy of Report Adopted by Board of Directors of Highorbit Careers Private 
Limited and Info Edge (India) Limited under Section 232(2)(c) of the 

Companies Act, 2013.
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PREAMBLE 

 

This Scheme of Amalgamation (hereinafter referred to as "Scheme" and as defined hereinafter) 

is presented under the provisions of sections 230 to 232 and other relevant provisions of the 

Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as “Act”, more particularly defined hereinafter) as 

applicable, read with the Companies (Compromises, Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules, 

2016, for the amalgamation of Highorbit Careers Private Limited with Info Edge (India) Limited. 

 

1. DESCRIPTION OF COMPANIES  

 

1.1 Highorbit Careers Private Limited is a company incorporated under the Companies 

Act, 1956 on 30 August 2010, with its registered office at GF-12A 94, Meghdoot Building, 

94, Nehru Place, New Delhi – 110019, India ("Transferor Company" or "Highorbit")  

[CIN: U72900DL2010PTC207653].  

 

Highorbit provides online classifieds, database, digital platform and recruitment solutions 

in the recruitment and employability vertical to small, medium and large enterprises and 

job seekers across different verticals particularly (in the case of www.iimjobs.com) mid 

and senior management verticals and (in the case of www.hirist.com) engineering 

technology verticals. 

 

The registered office of Highorbit was shifted from D-59, Prashant Vihar, Delhi-110085  

to GF-12A, 94, Meghdoot Building, Nehru Place, New Delhi – 110019 on 7th July 2019. 

 

1.2 Info Edge (India) Limited is a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956 

with its registered office at Ground Floor, GF-12A 94, Meghdoot Building, Nehru Place, 

New Delhi - 110019, India ("Transferee Company" or "Info Edge")  

[CIN: L74899DL1995PLC068021]. 

 

Info Edge is primarily engaged in the business of internet based service delivery 

operating in four service verticals through various web portals in respective verticals 

namely recruitment solutions comprising primarily naukri.com, other recruitment related 

portals and ancillary services related to recruitment, 99acres.com for real estate related 

services, jeevansathi.com for matrimony related services and shiksha.com for education 

related services. 

 

The Name of the Transferee Company was changed from ‘Info Edge (India) Private 

Limited’ to ‘Info Edge (India) Limited’, pursuant to a fresh certificate of incorporation dated  

27th April, 2006, issued by the Registrar of Companies. 

 

1.3 The Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company. 

Entire issued and paid-up share capital of the Transferor Company is beneficially held 

by the Transferee Company. The Transferee Company is a public listed company, and 

its equity shares are listed on BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of India Limited. 

 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SCHEME 

 

2.1 This Scheme (as defined hereinafter) provides, inter alia, for the amalgamation of the 

Transferor Company with the Transferee Company, by way of merger by absorption and 

dissolution of the Transferor Company without winding up.  
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2.2 The amalgamation of the Transferor Company into the Transferee Company shall be in 

full compliance with the conditions relating to "amalgamation" as provided under Section 

2(1B) and other related provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961 such that, inter alia:  

 

(i) all the properties of the Transferor Company, immediately before the amalgamation, 

shall become the properties of the Transferee Company, by virtue of the 

amalgamation.  

 

(ii) all the liabilities of the Transferor Company, immediately before the amalgamation, 

shall become the liabilities of the Transferee Company, by virtue of the 

amalgamation. 

 

3. RATIONALE OF THE SCHEME 

 

3.1 Pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement dated 27th May, 2019, the Transferee 

Company had acquired entire share capital of the Transferor Company on  

25th June, 2019, with an objective to further consolidate its position in the online 

recruitment solutions segment where its flagship brand Naukri.com already has an 

established leadership position. The Transferor Company is presently a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Transferee Company. 

 

Given the similarity in nature of businesses of the Transferor Company and the 

Transferee Company, it is proposed to merge the Transferor Company, with the 

Transferee Company. The merger shall result in greater business synergies and reduced 

administrative and other costs.  

 

3.2 More specifically, merger of the Transferor Company with the Transferee Company 

would inter-alia have the following benefits: 

 

a) Structured, sharper and better management focusing on holistic growth of the 

businesses; 

b) Optimum and efficient utilization of resources and sharing of ancillary facilities; 

 
c) Common governance structure and effective management of compliances; 

 

d) Enhancing shareholder value and leveraging on synergies in doing the business; 

and 

 
e) Cost saving by way of reduction of overheads, administrative, managerial and other 

expenditure and to bring about operational rationalization and efficiency. 

 

3.3 This Scheme would be in the interest of the Transferor Company and the Transferee 

Company, and their respective shareholders, creditors, if any, and other stakeholders 

and will not be prejudicial to the interests of any concerned shareholders or creditors. 

 

 

<This space has intentionally been left blank> 
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4. PARTS OF THE SCHEME:  

 

This Scheme is divided into the following parts: 

 

Part I Deals with definitions used in the Scheme and sets out the share capital 

of the Transferor Company and Transferee Company 

 

Part II Deals with the amalgamation of the Transferor Company with the 

Transferee Company; and 

 

Part III Deals with the dissolution of the Transferor Company and General 

Clauses, Terms and Conditions applicable to the Scheme. 

 

        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

<This space has intentionally been left blank> 
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PART I 

DEFINITIONS AND SHARE CAPITAL 

 

1. DEFINITIONS 

 

In this Scheme, unless repugnant to the meaning or context thereof,  

(i) terms defined in the introductory paragraphs and recitals shall have the same 

meanings throughout this Scheme and (ii) the following words and expressions, 

wherever used (including in the recitals and the introductory paragraphs above), shall 

have the following meanings: 

 

1.1 “Act” or “the Act” means the Companies Act, 2013 and applicable rules made 

thereunder and includes any amendments, statutory re-enactments and modifications 

thereof for the time being in force; 

 

1.2 “Applicable Law(s)” means any statute, law, regulation, ordinance, rule, judgment, 

order, decree, by-law, order, directive, guideline, policy, requirement, or other restriction 

issued, promulgated or enacted by any governmental/ regulatory/ statutory/ tax authority 

or any similar form of decision of, or determination by, or any interpretation or 

adjudication, having the force of law by any of the foregoing authorities having jurisdiction 

over the matter in question and includes any modifications, re-enactments thereof; 

 

1.3 “Appointed Date” for the purpose of this Scheme and for IT Act (as defined hereinafter) 

the “Appointed Date” means 1st April, 2020 or such other date as may be approved by 

the Tribunal (as defined hereinafter); 

 
1.4 “Board of Directors” or “Board” means and includes the respective Boards of 

Directors of the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company or any committee 

constituted by such Board of Directors for the purposes of the Scheme; 

 

1.5 “Effective Date” means the date or last of the dates on which certified copy of the order 

of the Tribunal sanctioning this Scheme is filed with the Registrar of Companies, Delhi 

and Haryana, by the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company, being the date 

from which such order shall become effective. Any references in the Scheme to “upon 

the Scheme becoming effective” or “effectiveness of the Scheme” or “Scheme coming 

into effect” shall mean the “Effective Date”. 

 

1.6 “Governmental Authority” means any applicable central, state or local government, 

legislative body, regulatory or administrative authority, agency or commission or 

committee or any court, tribunal, board, bureau, instrumentality, judicial or quasi-judicial 

or arbitral body having jurisdiction over the territory of India; 

 

1.7 "Highorbit" or " Transferor Company " means Highorbit Careers Private Limited  

(CIN: U72900DL2010PTC207653), a company incorporated under the Companies  

Act, 1956, with its registered office at GF-12A 94, Meghdoot Building, 94, Nehru Place, 

New Delhi – 110019, India. 

 
1.8 "Info Edge" or "Transferee Company" means Info Edge (India) Limited  

(CIN: L74899DL1995PLC068021), a company incorporated under the Companies  

Act, 1956 with its registered office at Ground Floor, GF-12A 94, Meghdoot Building, 

Nehru Place, New Delhi - 110019, India. 
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1.9 “Intellectual Property Rights” or “IPR” means, whether registered or not in the name 

of or recognized under Applicable Law(s) as being intellectual property of the Transferor 

Company, or in the nature of common law rights of the Transferor Company, all domestic 

and foreign (a) trademarks, service marks, brand names, internet domain names, 

websites, online web portals, trade names, logos, trade dress and all applications and 

registration for the foregoing, and all goodwill associated with the foregoing and 

symbolized by the foregoing; (b) confidential and proprietary information and trade 

secrets; (c) published and unpublished works of authorship, and copyrights therein, and 

registrations and applications therefor, if any, and all renewals, extensions, restorations 

and reversions thereof; (d) computer software,  programs (including source code, object 

code, firmware, operating systems and specifications) and processes; (e) designs, 

drawings, sketches; (f) tools, databases, frameworks, customer data, proprietary 

information, knowledge, any other technology or know-how, licenses, software licenses 

and formulas; (g) ideas and all other intellectual property or proprietary rights; and (h) all 

rights in all of the foregoing provided by Applicable Law(s); 

 

1.10 “IT Act” means the Income Tax Act, 1961 and the rules made thereunder and shall 

include any statutory modification(s), amendment(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof for the 

time being in force; 

 

1.11 “Registrar of Companies” or “RoC, Delhi” means the Registrar of Companies, 

National Capital Territory of Delhi and Haryana situated at New Delhi; 

 

1.12 “Scheme of Amalgamation” or “Scheme” or “the Scheme” or “this Scheme” means 

this Scheme of Amalgamation involving amalgamation of the Transferor Company into 

and with the Transferee Company, pursuant to the provisions of sections 230 to 232 and 

other applicable provisions of the Act, in its present form or with any modification(s) made 

pursuant to the provisions of this Scheme by the Board of Directors of the Companies 

and/ or as approved or directed by the Tribunal, as the case may be; 

 

1.13 “Stock Exchanges” means the BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of India 

Limited; 

 

1.14 “Tax” or 'Taxes' means any and all taxes (direct or indirect), surcharges, fees, levies, 

cess, duties, tariffs, imposts and other charges of any kind in each case in the nature of 

a tax, imposed by any Governmental Authority (whether payable directly or by 

withholding), including taxes based upon or measured by income, windfall or other 

profits, gross receipts, property, sales, severance, branch profits, customs duties, excise, 

Cenvat, withholding tax, self-assessment tax, advance tax, service tax, central goods 

and services tax, state goods and service tax, integrated goods and service tax, stamp 

duty, transfer tax, value-added tax, minimum alternate tax, banking cash transaction tax, 

securities transaction tax, taxes withheld or paid in a foreign country, customs duty and 

registration fees (together with any and all interest, penalties, additions to tax and 

additional amounts imposed with respect thereto); 

 

1.15 “Tribunal” or “NCLT” means the National Company Law Tribunal, New Delhi Bench or 

any other Bench of the NCLT having jurisdiction in relation to the Transferor Company 

and the Transferee Company; 

 
1.16 “Undertaking of the Transferor Company” or “Undertaking” means the entire 

business and includes the whole of the undertaking of the Transferor Company, of 

whatsoever nature and kind, and wherever situated, as a going concern, and all its 
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assets, rights, licenses, claims and powers, and all its debts, outstanding(s), liabilities, 

duties and obligations as on the Appointed Date, including but not in any way limited to 

the following: 

 

(a) all assets of the Transferor Company, wherever situated, whether present, future 

or contingent, tangible or intangible, in possession or reversion, corporeal or 

incorporeal, including without limitation current assets, furniture, fixtures, vehicles, 

computers, appliances, accessories, office equipment, actionable claims, sundry 

debtors, financial assets and accrued benefits thereon, prepaid expenses, 

advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received, provisions, 

receivables, funds, cheques and other negotiable instruments, investments, cash 

and bank balances, buildings, structures and premises, whether leasehold or 

freehold (including offices, warehouses, sales and / or marketing offices, liaison 

offices, branches etc.), work-in-progress and deposits including accrued interests 

thereon with other persons, Tax related assets, Tax benefits, exemptions and 

refunds as of the Appointed Date;  

 

(b) all debts, borrowings, obligations, duties and liabilities, both present and future 

liabilities including outstanding dues, duties, and obligations, fixed and contingent 

liability pertaining to or arising out of activities or operations of the Transferor 

Company, whether secured or unsecured, whether in India rupees or foreign 

currency, whether or not provided for in the books of accounts of the Transferor 

Company and whether disclosed or not in its financial statements, as of the 

Appointed Date; 

 

(c) all permits, licenses, software licences, domain, websites, registrations, 

certifications, liberties, privileges, easements, permissions, policies, clearances, 

approvals, power of attorneys,  tenancy rights, lease arrangements, telephones, 

telexes, email and facsimile connections, communication facilities, installations and 

utilities, electricity, water and other service connections, consents, no-objections, 

rights, entitlements, exemptions, benefits, including in respect of any pending 

application, whether made at the first instance or for renewal/modification, made 

by the Transferor Company and/or to which the Transferor Company is entitled to 

as on the Appointed Date;  

 

(d) all benefits, entitlements, incentives, subsidies, refunds, grants, rehabilitation 

schemes, special status, concessions, exemptions, deductions (including tax 

holiday benefits), tax or other credits, including available GST/ CENVAT credits 

and credit in respect of advance tax, minimum alternate tax, and self-assessment 

tax payments, book losses (if any), refunds and interest due thereon and other 

claims under the income tax law to the extent statutorily available to the Transferor 

Company, along with associated obligations;  

 

(e) all contracts, agreements, memorandum of understanding, bids, expressions of 

interest, letters of intent, commitment letters, other arrangements, undertaking, 

deeds, bonds and other instruments of whatsoever nature and description, whether 

written, oral, digital or otherwise, to which the Transferor Company is a party, or to 

the benefit of which the Transferor Company may be entitled as of the Appointed 

Date;  

 

(f) all Intellectual Property Rights of the Transferor Company including, registrations, 

goodwill, logos, brands, trade and service names, trademarks, service marks, 
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copyrights, patents, technical know-how, customer relationships, trade secrets, 

domain names, websites, computer programmes, development rights, finished and 

ongoing research and development programs and all such intellectual property of 

whatsoever description and nature, whether or not registered, owned or licensed, 

including any form of intellectual property which is in progress, as of the Appointed 

Date; 

 

(g) all employees of the Transferor Company, whether permanent or temporary, 

engaged in or in relation to the Transferor Company as on the Effective Date and 

whose services are transferred to the Transferee Company, all provisions and 

benefits made in relation to such employees including provident funds, 

registrations and reserves and contributions, if any, made towards any provident 

fund, employees state insurance, compensated leave benefits, gratuity fund, staff 

welfare scheme or any other special schemes, funds or benefits, existing for the 

benefit of such Employees of the Transferor Company, together with such of the 

investments made by these Funds, which are preferable to such employees;  

 

(h) all civil, criminal, legal, revenue, taxation or other proceedings, enquiries or 

investigations of whatsoever nature initiated by or against the Transferor Company 

or to which the Transferor Company is otherwise a party, whether pending as on 

the Appointed Date or instituted any time thereafter;  

 

(i) all books, records, files, papers, engineering and process information, databases, 

catalogues, quotations, advertising materials, lists of present and former credit, and 

all other books and records, whether in physical or electronic form, of the 

Transferor Company. 

 

It is intended that the definition of Undertaking under this clause would enable the 

transfer of all property, assets, liabilities, rights, benefit, claims, employees and 

other aforementioned aspects of the Transferor Company to the Transferee 

Company, pursuant to this Scheme. 

 

2. INTERPRETATION 

 

Terms and expressions which are used in this Scheme but not defined herein shall, 

unless repugnant or contrary to the context or meaning thereof, have the same meaning 

ascribed to them under the Act and if not defined therein then under the relevant 

Applicable Law(s). In this Scheme, unless the context otherwise requires: 

 

i. heading, sub-heading and bold typeface are only for convenience and shall not 

affect the construction or interpretation of this Scheme; 

 

ii. the term “Clause” refers to the specified clause of this Scheme; 

 

iii. references to one gender includes all genders; 

 

iv. any phrase introduced by the terms “including”, “include”, “in particular” or any 

similar expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense 

of the words preceding those terms; 

 

v. words in the singular shall include the plural and vice versa; and 
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vi. reference to any legislation, statute, regulation, rule, notification or any other 

provision of law means and includes references to such legal provisions as 

amended, supplemented or re-enacted from time to time and any reference to a 

legal provision shall include any subordinate legislation made from time to time 

under such a statutory provision. 

 

3. DATE OF TAKING EFFECT AND OPERATIVE DATE 

 

The Scheme set out herein in its present form with or without any modification(s) 

approved or imposed or directed by the Tribunal or made as per the Scheme, shall be 

effective from the Appointed Date but shall be operative from the Effective Date. 

 
 

4. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANIES  

 

4.1 The authorized, issued and paid-up share capital of the Transferor Company, as on 

September 30, 2020 is as follows:  

Particulars Amount in Rs. 

Authorized Share Capital  

50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each  5,00,000 

10,000 Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares of Rs. 10/- 

each 
1,00,000 

Total 6,00,000 

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Share Capital  

26,353 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each  2,63,530 

6,096 Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares of Rs. 10/- 

each 
60,960 

Total 3,24,490 

 

Subsequent to September 30, 2020, there has been no change in the authorized, issued 

and paid-up share capital of the Transferor Company, till the date of approval of this 

Scheme by the Board of the Transferor Company. 

 
4.2 The authorized, issued and paid up equity share capital of the Transferee Company, as 

on September 30, 2020 is as follows: 

Particulars Amount in Rs. 

Authorized Share Capital  

15,00,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each  1,50,00,00,000 

  

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Share Capital  

12,85,84,120 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid 1,28,58,41,200 

  

The equity shares of the Transferee Company are listed on Stock Exchanges. 

 

Subsequent to September 30, 2020, there has been no change in the authorized, issued 

and paid-up equity share capital of the Transferee Company, till the date of approval of 

this Scheme by the Board of the Transferee Company. 
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PART II 

AMALGAMATION OF THE TRANSFEROR COMPANY WITH THE TRANSFEREE 

COMPANY 

 

5. TRANSFER AND VESTING OF BUSINESS OF THE TRANSFEROR COMPANY 

 

5.1 Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date, the 

entire business and whole of the Undertaking of the Transferor Company shall, pursuant 

to order of the Tribunal sanctioning the Scheme under the provisions of section 230  

to 232 of the Act, and other applicable provisions of the law for time being in force, 

including Section 2(1B) of the IT Act, without any further act, instrument or deed, stand 

transferred to and vested in or deemed to have been transferred to and vested in the 

Transferee Company on and from the Appointed Date, as a going concern, so as to 

become, as and from the Appointed Date, the assets and liabilities of the Transferee 

Company and to vest in the Transferee Company all the rights, title, interest or 

obligations of the Transferor Company therein.  

 

6. VESTING OF ASSETS 

 

6.1 Without prejudice to the generality of Clause 5.1 above, upon the coming into effect of 

this Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date, all the estate, assets, properties, 

IPR, license, rights, claims, title, interest and authorities including accretions and 

appurtenances comprised in the Transferor Company, of whatsoever nature and where 

so ever situate shall, under the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act and all other 

applicable provisions of Applicable Law, if any, without any further act or deed, be and 

stand transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company and/or be deemed to be 

transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company as a going concern so as to 

become, as and from the Appointed Date, the estate, assets, properties, IPR, License, 

rights, claims, title, interest and authorities of the Transferee Company. 

 

6.2 Without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 6.1 above, in respect of such of the assets 

and properties of the Transferor Company as are movable in nature or incorporeal 

property or are otherwise capable of vesting or transfer by delivery or possession, or by 

endorsement and/or delivery, the same shall stand so transferred or vested by the 

Transferor Company upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, and shall, become the 

assets and property of the Transferee Company with effect from the Appointed Date 

pursuant to the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act, without requiring any deed 

or instrument of conveyance for transfer or vesting of the same. 

 

6.3 In respect of such of the assets and properties belonging to the Transferor Company 

(other than those referred to in Clause 6.2 above) including sundry debtors, receivables, 

bills, credits, loans and advances, if any, whether recoverable in cash or in kind or for 

value to be received, bank balances, investments, earnest money and deposits with any 

government, quasi government, local or other authority or body or with any company or 

other person, the same shall stand transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company 

and/or be deemed to have been transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company, 

without any further act, instrument or deed, cost or charge and without any notice or other 

intimation to any third party, upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and with effect 

from the Appointed Date pursuant to the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act. 
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6.4 Any and all immovable properties, whether free hold, on lease or under a contractual 

entitlement, if any, of the Transferor Company, and any documents of title/ rights and 

easements or otherwise in relation thereto shall be vested in and transferred to and/ or 

be deemed to have been transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company and shall 

belong to the Transferee Company in the same and like manner as was entitled to the 

Transferor Company. It is hereby clarified that all the rights, title and interest of the 

Transferor Company in any leasehold properties shall, without any further act, instrument 

or deed, be vested in or be deemed to have been vested in the Transferee Company. 

 
6.5 All assets, rights, title, interest, investments and properties of the Transferor Company 

as on the Appointed Date, whether or not included in the books of the Transferor 

Company, and all assets, rights, title, interest, investments and properties, which are 

acquired by the Transferor Company on or after the Appointed Date but prior to the 

Effective Date, shall be deemed to be and shall become the assets, rights, title, interest, 

investments and properties of the Transferee Company, and shall under the provisions 

of Sections 230 to 232 and all other applicable provisions, if any, of the Act, without any 

further act, instrument or deed, be and stand transferred to and vested in and be deemed 

to have been transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company upon the coming into 

effect of this Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date, pursuant to the provisions 

of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act. 

 

6.6 All licenses necessary to carry on the operations of the Transferor Company shall stand 

transferred to and be vested in the Transferee Company, without any further act or deed 

by the Transferor Company or the Transferee Company and be in full force and effect in 

favour of the Transferee Company, as if the same were originally given to, issued to or 

executed in favour of the Transferee Company and the Transferee Company shall be 

bound by the terms thereof, the obligations and duties there under, and the rights and 

benefits under the same shall be available to the Transferee Company. The Transferor 

Company and/or the Transferee Company shall file intimations, applications and/or 

necessary clarifications and documents with the relevant authorities, who shall take the 

same on record, or undertake necessary actions as may be required for having the 

licenses vested or transferred to the Transferee Company. 

 
Without prejudice to the above, it is clarified that with respect to any licenses that may 

require an amendment for the purpose of giving effect to this Scheme and to ensure that 

there is no change in the entitlements which were otherwise available to the Transferor 

Company in the absence of this Scheme, the Transferee Company shall be permitted to 

use the licenses of the Transferor Company till the same are so amended and updated, 

so as to enable the Transferee Company to continue to avail the entitlements otherwise 

available to the Transferor Company. 

 
6.7 All the profits or Taxes (including advance tax, tax deducted at source, foreign tax credits 

and MAT credit), or benefits, indirect tax credits or refunds due, GST set off or any costs, 

charges, expenditure accruing to the Transferor Company or expenditure or losses 

arising or incurred or suffered by the Transferor Company shall for all purpose be treated 

and be deemed to be and accrue as the profits, Taxes (namely advance tax, tax deducted 

at source foreign tax credits and MAT credit), or benefits, indirect tax credits or refunds 

due, GST set off, or any costs, charges, expenditure or losses of Transferee Company, 

as the case may be upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and with effect from the 

Appointed Date pursuant to the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act. 
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7. CONTRACTS, DEEDS ETC. 

 

7.1 Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, and subject to the provisions of this Scheme, 

contracts and other instruments of whatsoever nature, to which the Transferor Company 

is a party or to the benefit of which Transferor Company may be eligible, and which are 

subsisting or have effect immediately before the Effective Date, shall continue in full force 

and effect on or against or in favour of, as the case may be, the Transferee Company 

and may be enforced as fully and effectually as if, instead of the Transferor Company 

concerned, the Transferee Company had been a party or beneficiary or oblige thereto or 

thereunder. 

 

7.2 Without prejudice to the other provisions of this Scheme and notwithstanding that vesting 

of the assets occur by virtue of this Scheme itself, the Transferee Company may, at any 

time after the coming into effect of this Scheme, in accordance with the provisions hereof, 

if so required under any law or otherwise, take such actions and execute such deeds 

(including deeds of adherence), confirmations or other writings or arrangements with any 

party to any contract or arrangement to which the Transferor Company is a party or any 

writings as may be necessary in order to give formal effect to the provisions of this 

Scheme. The Transferee Company shall, after the Effective Date, under the provisions 

of this Scheme, be deemed to be authorised to execute any such writings on behalf of 

the Transferor Company and to carry out or perform all such formalities or compliances 

referred to above on the part of the Transferor Company to be carried out or performed. 

 

7.3 Any inter-se contracts between the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company 

shall stand cancelled and cease to operate upon the coming into effect of this Scheme. 

It is hereby expressly clarified that any transaction document entered in relation to 

acquisition of the Transferor Company by the Transferee Company shall be deemed to 

be cancelled only to that limited extent as far as they affect inter-se rights and / or 

obligations of Transferor Company and the Transferee Company. The Scheme shall not 

impact rights and / or obligations of the Transferor Company or the Transferee Company 

against any third party. 

 

7.4 Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, upon the coming into effect of this 

Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date, all consents, permissions, certificates, 

clearances, authorities, powers of attorney given by, issued to or executed in favour of 

the Transferor Company shall stand transferred to the Transferee Company as if the 

same were originally given by, issued to or executed in favour of the Transferee 

Company, and the Transferee Company shall be bound by the terms thereof, the 

obligations and duties thereunder, and the rights and benefits under the same shall be 

available to the Transferee Company. 

 

8. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS  

 

8.1 All Intellectual Property Rights of the Transferor Company shall stand transferred to and 

be vested in the Transferee Company and be in full force and effect in favour of the 

Transferee Company and may be enforced by or against it as fully and effectually as if, 

instead of the Transferor Company, the Transferee Company had been a party or 

beneficiary thereto.  The Transferor Company and/or the Transferee Company shall file 

intimations, applications and/or necessary clarifications and documents with the relevant 

authorities, who shall take the same on record, or undertake necessary actions as may 

be required for having the Intellectual Property Rights vested or transferred to the 

Transferee Company. 
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9. EMPLOYEES OF THE TRANSFEROR COMPANY 

 

9.1 All employees of the Transferor Company shall be deemed to have become the 

employees and staff of the Transferee Company with effect from the Effective Date, and 

shall stand transferred to the Transferee Company without any interruption of service 

and on terms and conditions no less favourable than those on which they are engaged 

by the Transferor Company as on the Effective Date, including in relation to the level of 

remuneration and contractual and statutory benefit, incentive plans, terminal benefits, 

gratuity plans, provident fund plans and any other retirement benefits. 

 

9.2 Services of all employees with the Transferor Company prior to their transfer, shall be 

taken into account for the purposes of all benefits to be given by the Transferee 

Company to which such employees may be eligible, including in relation to the level of 

remuneration and contractual and statutory benefits, incentive plans, terminal benefits, 

gratuity plans, provident fund plans and other retirement benefits and accordingly, shall 

be reckoned from the date of their respective appointment in the Transferor Company. 

The Transferee Company undertakes to pay the same, as and when payable under 

Applicable Laws. 

 

9.3 For avoidance of doubt, in relation to those employees for whom the Transferor 

Company is making contributions to the government/statutory employee provident and 

pension fund, the Transferee Company shall stand substituted for the Transferor 

Company for all purposes whatsoever, including in relation to the obligation to make 

contributions to such funds in accordance with the provisions of such funds, bye-laws, 

etc. in respect of the employees. 

 

9.4 All contributions made by the Transferor Company on behalf of the employees and all 

contributions made by the employees including the interests arising thereon, to the funds 

and standing to the credit of such employees’ account with such funds, shall, upon the 

Scheme becoming effective, be transferred to the funds maintained by the Transferee 

Company along with such of the investments made by such funds which are referable 

and allocable to the employees without any separate act or deed/ approval, and the 

Transferee Company shall stand substituted for the Transferor Company with regard to 

the obligation to make the said contributions.   

 

The Transferor Company or the Transferee Company shall, where applicable, take all 

steps necessary for the transfer of funds, to the Transferee Company. Pending such 

transfer, the contributions required to be made in respect of these employees shall 

continue to be made by the Transferee Company to the existing funds maintained by the 

Transferor Company. 

 

9.5 The terms and conditions of service applicable to the employees on the Effective Date 

will not in any way be less favorable to them than those applicable to them immediately 

before the Effective Date. 

 

9.6 The contributions made by the Transferor Company under Applicable Law in connection 

with the employees, to the funds, for the period after the Appointed Date shall be 

deemed to be contributions made by the Transferee Company. 

  

9.7 The Transferee Company shall continue to abide by the agreement(s) and settlement(s), 

if any, entered into or deemed to have been entered into with the employees of the 
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Transferor Company in terms of such agreement(s) and settlement(s) subsisting on the 

Effective Date, in relation to the employees. 

 

9.8 All obligations of the Transferor Company with regard to the said fund or funds as 

defined in the relevant rules shall be taken over by the Transferee Company from the 

Effective Date to the end and intent that all rights, duties, powers and obligations of the 

Transferor Company in relation to such fund or funds shall become those of the 

Transferee Company and all the rights, duties and benefits of the employees employed 

in the Transferor Company under such funds shall be fully protected, subject to the 

provisions of law for the time being in force. 

 
10. TRANSFER AND VESTING OF LIABILITIES 

 

10.1 Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date all 

the liabilities of the Transferor Company including all secured and unsecured debts (in 

whatsoever currency), liabilities (including contingent Liabilities), duties and obligations 

of the Transferor Company of every kind, nature and description whatsoever whether 

present or future, and howsoever arising, along with any charge, encumbrance, lien or 

security thereon shall, pursuant to the sanction of this Scheme by the Tribunal and under 

the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act and other applicable provisions, if any, 

of the Act, without any further act, instrument, deed, matter or thing, be and stand 

transferred to and vested in and be deemed to have been transferred to and vested in 

the Transferee Company, to the extent they are outstanding on the Effective Date so as 

to become as and from the Appointed Date the liabilities of the Transferee Company on 

the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the Transferor Company, and the 

Transferee Company shall meet, discharge and satisfy the same and further it shall not 

be necessary to obtain the consent of any third party or other person who is a party to 

any contract or arrangement by virtue of which such liabilities have arisen in order to give 

effect to  this Scheme. 

 

10.2 Where any such debts, liabilities, duties and obligations of the Transferor Company as 

on the Appointed Date have been discharged by such Transferor Company on or after 

the Appointed Date and prior to the Effective Date, such discharge shall be deemed to 

be for and on account of the Transferee Company upon the coming into effect of this 

Scheme. 

 

10.3 All loans raised and utilized and all liabilities, duties and obligations incurred or 

undertaken by the Transferor Company on or after the Appointed Date and prior to the 

Effective Date shall be deemed to have been raised, used, incurred or undertaken for 

and on behalf of the Transferee Company and to the extent they are outstanding on the 

Effective Date, shall, upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and under the provisions 

of Sections 230 to 232 of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed be stand 

transferred to and vested in and be deemed to have been transferred to and vested in 

the Transferee Company and shall become the loans and liabilities, duties and 

obligations of the Transferee Company which shall meet, discharge and satisfy the same. 

 

10.4 With effect from the Effective Date, the borrowing limits of Transferee Company shall be 

deemed without any further act or deed to have been enhanced by the borrowing limits 

of Transferor Company pursuant to the Scheme, such limits being incremental to the 

existing limits of Transferee Company, with effect from the Effective Date. 

 

10.5 Loans, advances and other obligations (including any guarantees, letters of credit, letters 
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of comfort or any other instrument or arrangement which may give rise to a contingent 

liability in whatever form), if any, due or which may at any time from the Appointed Date 

to the Effective Date become due between the Transferor Company and the Transferee 

Company shall, ipso facto, stand discharged and come to an end and there shall be no 

liability in that behalf on any party and the appropriate effect shall be given in the books 

of accounts and records of the Transferee Company. 

 

11. LEGAL AND OTHER SUCH PROCEEDINGS 

 

11.1 Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, all proceedings, suits, actions, and other 

proceedings including legal and taxation proceedings, (including before any statutory or 

quasi- judicial authority or tribunal) by or against the Transferor Company pending on the 

Effective Date shall be continued and/ or enforced by or against the Transferee Company 

as effectually and in the same manner and to the same extent as if the same had been 

instituted by or against the Transferee Company. 

 

11.2 If any proceeding, suit, appeal or other proceeding of whatever nature by or against the 

Transferor Company is pending, the same shall not abate or be discontinued or in any 

way be prejudicially affected by reason of or by anything contained in this Scheme, but 

the said proceedings, suit, appeal or other legal proceedings may be continued, 

prosecuted and enforced by or against Transferee Company, as the case may be, in the 

same manner and to the same extent as it would or might have been continued, 

prosecuted and enforced by or against the Transferor Company as if this Scheme had 

not been made. 

 

11.3 In case of any proceedings, litigation, suits, recovery proceedings which are to be initiated 

or may be initiated against the Transferor Company, the Transferee Company shall be 

made party thereto and any payment and expenses made thereto shall be the liability of 

the Transferee Company. 

 

11.4 The Transferee Company also undertakes to pay all amounts including interest, 

penalties, damages, etc., which the Transferor Company may be called upon to pay or 

secure in respect of any liability or obligation relating to the Transferor Company for the 

period from the Appointed Date up to the Effective Date and any costs incurred by the 

Transferor Company in respect of such proceedings started by or against it relatable to 

the period from the Appointed Date up to the Effective Date upon submission of 

necessary evidence by the Transferor Company to the Transferee Company for making 

such payment. 

 

11.5 Without prejudice to other clauses within this Scheme, with effect from the Appointed 

Date, all inter-party transactions between the Transferor Company and the Transferee 

Company shall be considered as intra-party transactions for all purposes from the 

Appointed Date. 

 

12. TAXATION 

The Scheme has been drawn up to comply with and fall within the definition and 

conditions relating to "Amalgamation" as specified u/s 2(1B) and other applicable 

provision of IT Act, as amended. If any terms or provisions of the Scheme are found or 

interpreted to be inconsistent with the provisions of the said section of the IT Act, at a 

later date, including resulting from an amendment of law or for any other reason 

whatsoever, the Scheme shall stand modified/amended/altered to the extent determined 

necessary to comply with and fall within definition and conditions relating to 
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"Amalgamation" as specified in  IT Act. In such an event, the clauses which are 

inconsistent shall be read down or if the need arises, be deemed to be deleted and such 

modification / reading down or deemed deletion shall however not affect the other parts 

of the Scheme. 

 

12.2 Upon the Scheme becoming effective, the Transferee Company is expressly permitted 

and shall be entitled to revise its financial statements and returns along with prescribed 

forms, filings and annexures under the IT Act, as amended, (including for minimum 

alternate tax purposes and tax benefits,) GST law and other tax laws, and to claim 

refunds and/or credits for Taxes paid (including minimum alternate tax), and to claim tax 

benefits under the IT Act and other tax laws etc. and for matters incidental thereto, if 

required to give effect to the provisions of this Scheme.  

 

12.3 Any Tax liabilities under Tax laws allocable or related to the Transferor Company, to the 

extent not provided for or covered by tax provision in the accounts made as on the date 

immediately preceding the Appointed Date, shall be transferred to the Transferee 

Company. 

 

12.4 Any surplus in Taxes/ surcharge/cess/duties/ levies account including but not limited to 

advance income tax, tax deducted at source, MAT credit, GST / Cenvat and any tax 

credit entitlements under any Tax laws as on the date immediately preceding the 

Appointed Date shall also be transferred to the Transferee Company, without any further 

act or deed. 

 

12.5 Any refund relating to Taxes which is due to the Transferor Company including refunds 

consequent to the assessments made on it and for which no credit is taken in the 

accounts as on the date immediately preceding the Appointed Date shall also belong to 

and be received by the Transferee Company. 

 

12.6 Upon the Scheme coming into effect on the Effective Date and with effect from the 

Appointed Date, all deductions related to Taxes otherwise admissible to Transferor 

Company including payment admissible on actual payment or on deduction of 

appropriate Taxes or on payment of tax deducted at source (such as under Section 43B, 

Section 40, Section 40A, etc. of the IT Act) shall be eligible for deduction to the 

Transferee Company upon fulfilment of the required conditions under applicable Tax 

law. 

 
12.7 Since each of the permissions, approvals, consents, sanctions, remissions, special 

reservations, goods and service tax exemptions, incentives, concessions and other 

authorizations of the Transferor Company shall stand transferred by the order of NCLT 

to the Transferee Company, the Transferee Company shall file the relevant intimations, 

for the record of the statutory/tax authorities who shall take them on file, pursuant to 

NCLT’s vesting orders. 

 

12.8 The withholding tax/ advance tax/ minimum alternate tax, if any, paid by the Transferor 

Company under the IT Act or any other statute in respect of income of the Transferor 

Company assessable for the period commencing from the Appointed Date shall be 

deemed to be the tax deducted from/advance tax paid by the Transferee Company and 

credit for such withholding tax/advance tax/minimum alternate tax shall be allowed to 

the Transferee Company notwithstanding that certificates or challans for withholding 

tax/advance tax are in the name of the Transferor Company and not in the name of the 

Transferee Company. 
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12.9 All Tax assessment proceedings / appeals of whatsoever nature by or against the 

Transferor Company pending and/or arising at the Appointed Date shall be continued 

and/or enforced until the Effective Date as desired by the Transferor Company. As and 

from the Effective Date, the Tax proceedings shall be continued and enforced by or 

against the Transferee Company in the same manner and to the same extent as would 

or might have been continued and enforced by or against the Transferor Company. 

Further, the aforementioned proceedings shall neither abate or be discontinued nor be 

in any way prejudicially affected by reason of the amalgamation of the Transferor 

Company with the Transferee Company or anything contained in the Scheme. 

 

13. CONDUCT OF BUSINESS TILL EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

13.1 From the date on which the Boards of Directors of the Transferor Company and the 

Transferee Company approve this Scheme until the Effective Date: 

 

a. The Transferor Company shall carry on and be deemed to have carried on all 

business and activities and shall hold and stand possessed of and shall be deemed  

to hold and stand possessed of all its estates, assets, rights, title, interest, 

authorities, contracts and investments for and on account of, and in trust for, the 

Transferee Company; 

 

b. The Transferor Company shall carry on their business and activities with due 

business prudence and diligence and shall not, without prior written consent of the 

Transferee Company or pursuant to any pre-existing obligation, sell transfer or 

otherwise alienate, charge, mortgage, encumber or otherwise deal with any part 

of its assets nor incur or accept or acknowledge any debt, obligation or liability 

except as is necessary in the ordinary course of business. 

 

c. All profits and income accruing or arising to the Transferor Company, and losses 

and expenditure arising or incurred by them (including Taxes, if any, accruing or 

paid in relation to any profits or income) for the period commencing from the 

Appointed Date shall, for all purposes, be treated as and be deemed to be the 

profits, income, losses or expenditure (including Taxes), as the case may be, of 

the Transferee Company; 

 

d. Any of the rights, powers, authorities or privileges exercised by the Transferor 

Company shall be deemed to have been exercised by the Transferor Company for 

and on behalf of, and in trust for and as an agent of the Transferee Company. 

Similarly, any of the obligations, duties and commitments that have been 

undertaken or discharged by the· Transferor Company shall be deemed to have 

been undertaken for and on behalf of and as an agent for the Transferee Company; 

and 

 

e. All Taxes (including, without limitation, income tax, GST or any other taxes) paid 

or payable by the Transferor Company in respect of the operations and/or the 

profits of the Transferor Company before the Appointed Date, shall be on account 

of the Transferor Company and, insofar as it relates to the tax payment (including, 

without limitation, income tax or any other taxes), whether by way of deduction at 

source, advance tax or otherwise howsoever, by the Transferor Company in 

respect of the profits or activities or operation of the Transferor Company with 

effect from the Appointed Date, the same shall be deemed to be the corresponding 
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item paid by the Transferee Company, and, shall, in all Proceedings, be dealt with 

accordingly. 

 

f. Pending sanction of the Scheme, the Transferor Company shall not, except by way 

of issue of shares / convertible debentures to the Transferee Company, increase 

their capital (by fresh issue of shares, convertible debentures or otherwise). 

 

 
14. CONSIDERATION AND CANCELLATION OF SHARE CAPITAL OF THE 

TRANSFEROR COMPANY 

 

14.1 As the Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company, 

the entire issued, subscribed and paid up share capital of the Transferor Company is 

held by the Transferee Company. Upon this Scheme becoming effective, the Transferee 

Company would not be required to issue and allot any shares to the shareholders of the 

Transferor Company.  

 

14.2 Entire Issued Share Capital and share certificates of the Transferor Company shall 

automatically stand cancelled. 

 
15. DIVIDENDS 

 

15.1 The Transferor Company and the Transferee Company shall be entitled to declare and 

pay dividends, whether interim or final, to their respective shareholders. 

 

15.2 On and from the Effective Date, the profits of Transferor Company, for the period 

beginning from the Appointed Date shall belong to and be the profits of Transferee 

Company and will be available to Transferee Company for being disposed of in any 

manner as it thinks fit. 

 

15.3 It is clarified that the aforesaid provisions in respect of declaration of dividends are 

enabling provisions only and shall not be deemed to confer any right on any member of 

the Transferor Company and/or the Transferee Company to demand or claim any 

dividends which, subject to the provisions of the said Act, shall be entirely at the discretion 

of the Board of Directors of the Transferee Company, subject to-such approval of the 

shareholders, as may be required. 

 

16. ACCOUNTING TREATMENT  

Upon this Scheme becoming effective, the Transferee Company shall give effect to the 

accounting treatment in its books of account in accordance with “Pooling of interest 

method” of accounting as laid down in Appendix C of Ind AS-103 Business Combinations 

of entities under common control notified under section 133 of the Act read with the 

Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as may be amended from time 

to time, in its books of accounts such that: 

 

(a) The Transferee Company shall record the assets and liabilities, if any, of the 

Transferor Company vested in it pursuant to this Scheme, at the carrying values 

as appearing in the consolidated financial statements of Transferee Company. 

 

(b) The identity of the reserves shall be preserved and the Transferee Company shall 

record the reserves of the Transferor Company in the same form and at the 

carrying amount as appearing in the consolidated financial statements of 

Transferee Company. 
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(c) Pursuant to the amalgamation of the Transferor Company with the Transferee 

Company, the inter-company balances between the Transferee Company and the 

Transferor Company, if any appearing in the books of the Transferee Company 

shall stand cancelled. 

 

(d) The value of investments held by the Transferee Company in the Transferor 

Company shall stand cancelled pursuant to amalgamation. 

 

(e) In case of any differences in accounting policies between the Transferor Company 

and the Transferee Company, the accounting policies followed by the Transferee 

Company shall prevail to ensure that the financial statements reflect the financial 

position based on consistent accounting policies.  

 

(f) The surplus/deficit, if any arising after taking the effect of clauses (a) to (d), shall 

be adjusted in “Capital reserve” in the financial statements of the Transferee 

Company and shall be presented separately with disclosure of its nature and 

purpose in the notes. 

 

(g) Comparative financial information in the financial statements of the Transferee 

Company shall be restated for the accounting impact of merger, as stated above, 

as if the merger had occurred from the beginning of the comparative period. 

However, if business combination had occurred after that date, the prior period 

information shall be restated only from that date. 

 
(h) For accounting purpose, the Scheme will be given effect from the date when all 

substantial conditions for the transfer of business are completed i.e., the control is 

transferred in accordance with the requirements of Ind AS. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

<This space has intentionally been left blank> 
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PART III 

OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS APPLICABLE TO THE SCHEME 

 

17. RESOLUTIONS 

 

Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, the resolutions, if any, of the Transferor 

Company, which are valid and subsisting on the Effective Date, shall continue to be valid 

and subsisting and be considered & resolutions of the Transferee Company and if any 

such resolutions have any monetary limits approved under the provisions of the Act, or 

any other applicable statutory provisions, then the said limits shall be added to the limits, 

if any, under like resolutions passed by the Transferee Company and shall constitute 

the aggregate of the said limits in the Transferee Company. 

 

Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, the borrowing limits of the Transferee 

Company in terms of the Act shall be deemed, without any further act or deed, to have 

been enhanced by the aggregate limits of the Transferor Company which are being 

transferred to the Transferee Company pursuant to the Scheme, such limits being 

incremental to the existing limits of the Transferee Company, with effect from the 

Appointed Date. 

 

18. SAVINGS OF CONCLUDED TRANSACTIONS 

 

The transfer and vesting of assets and liabilities under Clauses 6 & 10 above and the 

continuance of proceedings by or against the Transferee Company under Clause 11 

above shall not affect any transaction or proceedings already concluded by the 

Transferor Company on or after the Appointed Date till the Effective Date, to the end 

and intent that the Transferee Company accepts and adopts all acts, deeds and things 

done and executed by the Transferor Company in respect thereto, as if done and 

executed on its behalf. 

 

19. DISSOLUTION OF THE TRANSFEROR COMPANY 

 

19.1 Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, the Transferor Company shall stand 

dissolved without winding-up without any further act or deed. 

 

19.2 Even after the Scheme becoming effective, the Transferee Company shall be entitled to 

operate all bank accounts relating to the Transferor Company and realize all monies and 

complete and enforce all pending contracts and transactions insofar as may be 

necessary until the transfer and vesting of rights and obligations of the Transferor 

Company to the Transferee Company under this scheme is formally effected by the 

parties concerned. 

 

20. CONDITIONALITY 

 

The effectiveness of the Scheme is conditional upon and subject to: 

 

a. Obtaining the sanction of the Tribunal under section 230 to 232 of the Companies 

Act, 2013 and other applicable provisions of the Act.  

 
b. The certified copy of the order of the Tribunal under Sections 230 to 232 and 

other applicable provisions of the Act sanctioning the Scheme being filed with 

the Registrar of Companies by the Transferor Company and the Transferee 
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Company. 

 

c. Such other approvals and sanctions as may be required by Applicable Law in 

respect of this Scheme being obtained. 

 

21. EFFECT OF NON-RECEIPT OF APPROVALS 

 

In the event the Scheme is not sanctioned by NCLT for any reason whatsoever or for any 

other reason the Scheme cannot be effected, the Scheme shall become null and void 

and shall be of no effect and in that event no rights and/or liabilities shall accrue to or be 

incurred inter-se by the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company or their 

respective shareholders or creditors or employees or any other person and the Transferor 

Company and the Transferee Company shall bear and pay their respective costs, 

charges and expenses for and/or in connection with the Scheme. 

 

It is expressly clarified, for the removal of doubt that if any of the components of this 

Scheme cannot be implemented or effected for any reason whatsoever, the remaining 

component(s) shall not in any way be affected or impaired and the Scheme with the 

remaining component(s) shall be implemented. 

 

22. APPLICATIONS/PETITIONS 

 

The Transferor Company and the Transferee Company, if required shall, with all 

reasonable dispatch, make applications/ petitions to the Tribunal and other 

Governmental Authorities under Section 230 to 232 and other applicable provisions, of 

the Act, for sanctioning of this Scheme. 

 

23.  MODIFICATIONS OR AMENDMENTS TO THE SCHEME 

 

Subject to approval of NCLT, the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company, 

through their respective Board of Directors or such other person or persons, as the 

respective Board of Directors may authorize, including any committee or sub-committee 

thereof may assent from time to time on behalf of all the persons concerned to any 

modifications or amendments or additions to this Scheme subject to approval of the 

Tribunal or to any conditions or limitations which the Tribunal and/or any other 

competent authorities, if any, under the law may deem fit and approve of or impose and 

which the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company may in their discretion 

deem fit and may resolve all doubts or difficulties that may arise for carrying out this 

scheme and do and execute all acts, deeds, matters and things necessary for bringing 

this Scheme into effect. 

 

For the purpose of giving effect to this Scheme or to any modifications or amendments 

thereof or additions thereto, the delegate of the Transferor Company or the Transferee 

Company may give and is hereby authorized to determine and give all such directions 

as are necessary including directions for settling or removing any question of doubt or 

difficulty that may arise and such determination or directions, as the case may be, shall 

be binding on all parties in the same manner as if the same were specifically 

incorporated in this Scheme. 
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24. REVOCATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF THIS SCHEME 

 

The Board of Directors of the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company shall be 

entitled to revoke, cancel, withdraw and declare this Scheme to be of no effect at any 

stage, but before the Effective date, and where applicable re-file, at any stage, in case  

 

a) this Scheme is not approved by the NCLT or if any other consents, approvals, 

permissions, resolutions, agreements, sanctions and conditions required for giving 

effect to this Scheme are not received or delayed;  

 

b) any condition or modification imposed by the NCLT is not acceptable;  

 

c) the coming into effect of this Scheme in terms of the provisions hereof or filing of the 

drawn-up order(s) with any Governmental Authority could have adverse implication 

on the Transferor Company and/or the Transferee Company; or  

 

d) for any other reason whatsoever,  

 

and do all such acts, deeds and things as they may deem necessary and desirable in 

connection therewith and incidental thereto.  

 

Upon revocation, cancellation or withdrawal, this Scheme shall stand revoked, cancelled 

or withdrawn and be of no effect and in that event, no rights and liabilities whatsoever 

shall accrue to or be incurred inter se between the Transferor Company and the 

Transferee Company or their respective shareholders or creditors or Employees or any 

other person, save and except in respect of any act or deed done prior thereto as is 

contemplated hereunder or as to any right, liability or obligation which has arisen or 

accrued pursuant thereto and which shall be governed and be preserved or worked out 

in accordance with the Applicable Law and in such case, each party shall bear its own 

costs, unless otherwise mutually agreed. 

 

25. COSTS, CHARGES AND EXPENSES 

 

All costs, charges, Taxes, including stamp duties, levies and all other expenses, if any 

(save as expressly otherwise agreed) of the Transferor Company and the Transferee 

Company arising out of or incurred in carrying out and implementing this Scheme and 

matters incidental thereto shall be borne and paid by the Transferee Company.  

 

26. SEVERABILITY 

 

If any part of this Scheme is held invalid, ruled illegal by NCLT, or becomes unenforceable 

for any reason, whether under present or future laws, then it is the intention of both, the 

Transferor Company and the Transferee Company, that such part of the Scheme shall 

be severable from the remainder of this Scheme and this Scheme shall not be affected 

thereby, unless the deletion of such part of the Scheme shall causes this Scheme to 

become materially adverse to either the Transferee Company or the Transferor 

Company, in which case the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company shall 

attempt to bring about a modification in this Scheme, as will best preserve for the parties 

the benefits and obligations of this Scheme, including but not limited to such part of the 

Scheme.  

 

























 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Members of  Highorbit Careers Private Limited 

  

Report on the Audit of the Ind AS Financial Statements1 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying  Ind AS financial statements of Highorbit Careers Private Limited  

(“the Company”), which comprise the Balance sheet as at  March 31 2020, the Statement of Profit and Loss, including the 

statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year 

then ended, and notes to the [] Ind AS financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information  

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us [, the aforesaid  Ind AS financial 

statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013, as amended (“the Act”) in the manner so required and 

give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the 

Company as at March 31, 2020, its profit/loss including other comprehensive income, its cash flows and the changes in equity 

for the year ended on that date.  

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit of the Ind AS financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs), as specified 

under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Ind AS Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company 

in accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules 

thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of 

Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion on the Ind AS financial statements. 

 

 

Key Audit Matters 

 

We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report. 

 

 “Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon” 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Annual report, but does not include the  Ind AS financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  

 

Our opinion on the Ind AS financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.  

 

In connection with our audit of the Ind AS financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether such other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 

in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 

is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 

 
 



 

 

regard. 

 

Responsibilities of Management for the Ind AS Financial Statements 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the 

preparation of these Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance 

including other comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting 

principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the 

Act read with [the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. This responsibility also includes 

maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the 

Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting 

policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance 

of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 

accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the  Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair 

view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Ind AS financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 

so. 

The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Ind AS Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Ind AS financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect 

a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

Ind AS financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 

the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Ind AS financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether 

the Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating 

effectiveness of such controls.2 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

 
 



 

 

to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Ind AS financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the  Ind AS financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 

to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the  Ind AS financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2020 and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 

the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report. 

 

 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government of India 

in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, based on our audit  we give in the “Annexure 1” a statement on the 

matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order. 

2. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that: 

 

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief 

were necessary for the purposes of our audit; 

  

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from 

our examination of those books  

 

(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the 

Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books 

of account ; 

 

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid  Ind AS financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified under 

Section 133 of the Act, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended; 

 

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2020 taken on record by the 

Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31, 2020 from being appointed as a director in 

terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act; 

 

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company with reference 

to these  Ind AS financial statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in 

“Annexure 2” to this report; 

 

(g) In our opinion, the managerial remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2020 has been paid / provided by the 

Company to its directors in accordance with the provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act; 

 





 

 

ANNEXURE 1 TO THE AUDITORS’ REPORT  

 

Annexure referred to in our report of even date to the members of Highorbit Careers Private Limited for the year 

ended 31st March 2020. 

(i) (a) The company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details and 

situation of its fixed assets. 

(b) All the assets have been physically verified by the management during the year. The system of such 

verification in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the company and the nature of its 

assets. Discrepancies noticed on such verification were properly dealt-with in the books of accounts.  

 

(ii)       The Company’s business does not involve inventories and, accordingly, the requirements under paragraph 

3(ii) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.  

 

(iii)         According to the information and explanations given to us, the company has not granted any loans, secured 

or unsecured to companies, firms or other parties covered in the register maintained under section 189 of 

the Companies Act, 2013. 

 In view of above, the clauses 3(iii)(a) and 3(iii)(b) of the Order are not applicable. 

(iv)  In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, provisions of section 186 of 

the Companies Act 2013 in respect of investments made have been complied with by the company. There 

are no loans, guarantees, and securities given in respect of which provisions of section 185 and 186 of the 

Companies Act 2013 are applicable and hence not commented upon. 

(v) The company has not accepted any deposits from the public in terms of section 73 to 76 or any provisions 

of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014 (as amended). 

Accordingly, the provisions of clause 3(v) of the Order are not applicable. 

(v)  To the best of our knowledge and as explained, the Company is not in the business of sale of any goods. 

Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(vi) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.  

 

(vi)  

(a) The company is generally regular in depositing with appropriate authorities undisputed statutory dues 

including income tax (TDS), Good & Service Tax, Provident Fund etc. and other statutory dues applicable 

to it, and there are no undisputed dues outstanding as on 31st March 2020 for a period of more than six 

months from the date they became payable. 

 

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us there are no amounts that are due to be 

transferred to the investor education and protection fund in accordance with the relevant provisions of 

the Companies Act, 1956 (1 of 1956) and rules made there under. 

 

(vii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company has not taken 

any loans from any financial institution or banks. 



 

 

 

(viii) According to the information and explanations given by the management, the Company has not raised any 

money by way of initial public offer / further public offer / debt instruments and term loans hence, 

reporting under clause (ix) is not applicable to the Company and hence not commented upon 

 

(ix) Based upon the audit procedures performed for the purpose of reporting the true and fair view of the 

financial statements and according to the information and explanations given by the management, we 

report that no material fraud by the company or no fraud on the company by the officers and employees 

of the Company has been noticed or reported during the year. 

 

(x) According to the information and explanations given by the management, the managerial remuneration 

has been paid / provided in accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of section 

197 read with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013.  

 

(xi) In our opinion, the Company is not a nidhi company. Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(xii) of the order 

are not applicable to the Company and hence not commented upon. 

 

(xii) According to the information and explanations given by the management, transactions with the related 

parties are in compliance with section 177 and 188 of Companies Act, 2013 where applicable and the details 

have been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, as required by the applicable accounting 

standards. 

 

(xiii)  According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination of the balance 

sheet, the company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares or fully or 

partly convertible debentures during the year under review. The Company had made a private placement 

of shares during the year ended March 31, 2017; the amounts raised have been used for which funds were 

raised. 

 

(xiv)  According to the information and explanations given by the management, the Company has not entered 

into any non-cash transactions with directors or persons connected with him as referred to in section 192 

of Companies Act, 2013. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





 

 

ANNEXURE 2 TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS OF HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED 

 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies 

Act, 2013 (“the Act”) 

 

 

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Highorbit Careers Prviate Limited (“the 

Company”) as of March 31, 2020 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial statements of the 

Company for the year ended on that date. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

 

The Company’s Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on 

the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential 

components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 

Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These responsibilities include the design, 

implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for 

ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, the 

safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of 

the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the 

Companies Act, 2013.  

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls over financial reporting 

with reference to these standalone financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the 

“Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing as specified under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, 

to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial 

controls over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements was established and 

maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects. 

 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial 

controls over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements and their operating 

effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an 

understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial 

statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and 

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the 

auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error.  

  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion on the internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these standalone 

financial statements. 

 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting with reference to these standalone financial 

statements 

 

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial 

statements is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 









(Amount Rs.)

Year Ended Year Ended

March 31,2020 March 31,2019

A. Cash flow from operating activities 

Profit before tax (after exceptional items) (71,729,725)            (7,806,454)                    

Adjustment to reconcile loss before tax to net cash flows:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,261,827               2,403,691                      

Interest on lease liability Obligation 855,102                  -                                 

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment 144,977                  -                                 
Interest income (1,545,091)              (5,364,801)                    
Unwinding of security deposit (72,699)                   -                                 
Bad debt/provision for doubtful debts 7,100,187               -                                 

Operating profit before working capital changes (59,985,422)            (10,767,564)                  

Movements in working capital :

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables 5,778,856               (4,248,989)                    
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets 64,716,899             (4,421,657)                    
(Increase)/decrease in other assets 10,392,183             (3,224,597)                    
Increase in other financial liabilities 694,194                  3,375,318                      
Increase in provisions 1,592,753               641,088                         
Increase in other liabilities 26,216,695             17,806,727                    
Increase in trade payables 1,036,887               1,339,916                      

Cash generated from operations 50,443,046             500,242                         

Direct taxes paid (net of refunds) (15,791,200)            (5,810,690)                    

Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 34,651,845             (5,310,448)                    

B. Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets

(1,401,647)              (1,043,168)                    

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

36,430                    9,657                             

Interest received 1,545,091               5,364,801                      

Net cash used in investing activities (B) 179,874                  4,331,289                      

C. Cash flow from financing activities

Interest on lease Liability (855,104)                 
Lease liability repayment (3,051,351)              

Net cash used in financing activities (C) (3,906,455)              -                                 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 30,925,264             (979,159)                       

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 6,052,339               7,031,498                      

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 36,977,604             6,052,339                      

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalent as per the 

cash flow statement:

 As at 31 March 

2020 

 As at

 31 March 2019 

Cash and cash equivalents as per above comprises of the following :
- Cash on hand                        8,003                              5,168 

- 'Balance in current accounts              36,969,601                       6,047,171 

Balances as per cash flow statement              36,977,604                       6,052,339 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

This is the statement of cash flows referred to in our report of even date

HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2020







HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED 
 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020 
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

  

1. Corporate Information  

 

Highorbit Careers Private Limited (the Company) CIN : U72900DL2010PTC207653 is a private limited company domiciled and 

incorporated under the provisions of the Companies Act applicable in India. The registered office of the Company is located at GF-

12A, 94 Meghdoot Building, Nehru Place, New Delhi – 110019 and principal place of business is in D-59, Prashant Vihar Delhi-

110085. The Company is primarily engaged in providing online & offline services primarily through its online portal iimjobs.com.  

 

The Company has been acquired by Info Edge (India) Limited, a listed Company during the year. 

 

2. Significant accounting policies 

 

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements. These 

policies have been consistently applied except where a newly issued accounting standard is initially adopted or a revision to an 

existing accounting standard requires a change in accounting policy hitherto in use. 

 

2.1 Basis of preparation  

 

(i) Compliance with Ind AS 

 

These  financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting standards (Ind AS) notified under 

section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) [Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended by 

notification dated March 31, 2016] and other relevant provisions of the Act. 

 

For all the periods upto and including the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company prepared its financial statements in 

accordance with accounting standards notified under Companies (Accounting Standard) Rules 2006 (as amended) and other 

relevant provisions of the Act. These financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020 are the first financial statement 

prepared in accordance with Ind AS. 

 

All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per the Company’s operating cycle and other criteria set 

out in the Schedule III (Division II) to the Companies Act, 2013. Based on the nature of services and the time between the rendering 

of service and their realisation in cash and cash equivalents, the Company has ascertained its operating cycle as twelve months 

for the purpose of current and noncurrent classification of assets and liabilities. 

 

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees.  

 

Since the company has become wholly owned subsidiary of a listed company, it has adopted Ind AS during the year. Till previous 

year, the company had prepared the financial statements in accordance with accounting standards notified under Companies 

(Accounting Standard) Rules 2006 (as amended) and other relevant provisions of the Act. 

 

(ii) Historical Cost Convention 

 

The Financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following: 

 

 Certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) which are measured at fair value / amortised cost; 

 Defined benefit plans-plan assets measured at fair value; and 

  

 

 

2.2        Property, plant and equipment 

  

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
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Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be 

measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognized when replaced. All 

other repairs and maintenance are recognized in profit or loss during the reporting period, in which they are incurred. 

 

Transition to Ind AS 

 

On transition to Ind AS, the Company has elected to continue with the carrying value of all of its property, plant and equipment 

recognized as at April 1, 2018 measured as per the previous GAAP and use that carrying value as the deemed cost of the property, 

plant and equipment. 

 

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value 

 

Depreciation is provided on a pro-rata basis on the straight line method over the estimated useful lives of assets, based on internal 

assessment and independent technical evaluation done by the Management expert which are equal to, except in case of Plant 

and Machinery, Furniture and Fixtures and Vehicles where useful life is lower than life prescribed under Schedule II to the 

Companies Act, 2013, in order to reflect the actual usage of the assets. 

  

Assets  Estimated useful life 

(Years) 

Mobile Phone 3 

  Computers 3 

  Electric fittings 10 

  Furniture and Fixtures 10 

  Office Equipment 5 

  Air Conditioner  10 

 

The leasehold improvements are depreciated over the assets’ useful life or over the shorter of the assets’ useful life and the lease 

term.        

      

The asset’s useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted prospectively, 

if appropriate. 

 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than 

its estimated recoverable amount. 

 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing net disposal proceeds with carrying amount of the asset. These are 

included in profit or loss within other income. 

 

 

 

2.3       Intangible assets 

 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at historical cost. Intangibles assets have a finite life and 

are subsequently carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses if any. 

 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication 

that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a 

finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 

pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortization period or 

method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with 

finite lives is recognized in the statement of profit and loss unless such expenditure forms part of carrying value of another asset. 
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Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognized. 

 

Amortisation methods and estimated useful lives 

 

                           Assets                 Estimated useful life (Years) 

      Software licenses                            3  

 

 

Transition to Ind AS  

 

On transition to Ind AS, the Company has elected to continue with the carrying value of all of intangible assets recognized as at 

April 1, 2018 measured as per the previous GAAP and use that carrying value as the deemed cost of intangible assets. 

 

 

2.4 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 

Assessment is done at each balance sheet date as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 

indication exists or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, an estimate of the recoverable amount of the 

asset/cash generating unit is made. Recoverable amount is higher of an asset’s or cash generating unit’s fair value less costs of 

disposal and its value in use. Value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing 

use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. For the purpose of assessing impairment, the recoverable amount 

is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 

other assets or group of assets. The smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are 

largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets, is considered as a cash generating unit (CGU). An 

asset or CGU whose carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 

amount. Assessment is also done at each balance sheet for possible reversal of an impairment loss recognized for an asset, in 

prior accounting periods. 

 

2.5 Foreign currency translations 

 

(i)  Functional and presentation currency 

 

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 

in which the Company operates (‘the functional currency’) i.e., Indian Rupee (INR) which is its presentation currency as well. 

          

(ii) Transactions and balances 

 

Initial recognition 

 

On initial recognition, all foreign currency transactions are recorded by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange 

rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction. 

 

Subsequent recognition 

 

As at the reporting date, foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate and non-monetary items that are 

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the initial 

transaction. 
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Exchange gains and losses arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from 

those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous financial statements are recognized in 

profit or loss in the year in which they arise. 

 

 

 

 

 

2.6 Revenue recognition 

 

The Company has adopted Ind AS 115 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” using the modified retrospective approach, 

applied to contracts that were not completed as of April 1, 2019. In accordance with modified retrospective approach, the 

comparatives have not been retrospectively adjusted.  

 

Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration 

we expect to receive in exchange for those services. (net of goods and services tax).. 

 

The Company earns revenue significantly from the following sources viz. 

 

a) Recruitment solutions through its career web site, iimjobs.com & hirist.com, Revenue is received primarily in the form of fees, 

which is recognized pro-rata over the subscription / advertising / service agreement, usually ranging between one to twelve 

months. 

 

Revenue in relation to rendering of the services mentioned in (a) above where performance obligations are satisfied over time 

and where there is no uncertainty as to measurability or collectability of consideration, is  recognized ratably over the period of 

in which services are rendered (subscription period. 

 

In respect of (a) above, the unaccrued amounts are reflected in the Balance sheet as Income received in advance (deferred sales 

revenue). 

 

The company has as a matter of practical expedient recognized the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when 

incurred, since the amortisation period of the asset that the entity otherwise would have recognized is generally one year or less.  

 

2.7 Retirement and other employee benefits 

 

(i) Short-term obligations 

 

Liabilities for salaries, including other monetary and non-monetary benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 

months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognized in respect of employees’ 

services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 

settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet. 

 

(ii) Other Long-term employee benefit obligations 

 

The liabilities for earned leave are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the 

employees render the related service. They are therefore measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made 

in respect of services provided by employees upto the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. The 

benefits are discounted using the market yields at the end of the reporting period that have terms approximating to the terms of 

the related obligation. Re-measurements as a result of experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 

recognized in profit or loss. 

 

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer 

settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. 
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(iii) Post-employment obligations 

 

The Company operates the following post-employment schemes: 

a) defined contribution plans - provident fund 

b) defined benefit plans - gratuity plans 

 

a) Defined contribution plans  

 

The Company has a defined contribution plan for the post-employment benefit namely Provident Fund which is administered 

through the Regional Provident Fund Commissioner and the contributions towards such fund are recognized as employee benefits 

expense and charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss when they are due. The Company does not carry any further obligations 

with respect to this, apart from contributions made on a monthly basis. 

 

b) Defined benefit plans 

 

The Company has defined benefit plan, namely gratuity for eligible employees in accordance with the Payment of Gratuity Act, 

1972 the liability for which is determined on the basis of an actuarial valuation (using the Projected Unit Credit method) at the 

end of each period. The Gratuity Fund is recognized by the income tax authorities and is administered through Life Insurance 

Corporation of India under its Group Gratuity Scheme. 

 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation denominated in INR is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 

outflows by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have terms approximating 

to the tenor of the related obligation. The liability or asset recognized in the balance sheet in respect of gratuity is the present 

value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The net interest cost is 

calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This 

cost is included in employee benefit expense in the statement of profit and loss. 

 

Remeasurements of the net defined liability, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets (excluding amounts 

included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability) and any change in the effect of asset ceiling (excluding amounts 

included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability), are recognized immediately in the balance sheet with a corresponding 

debit or credit to retained earnings through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) in the period in which they occur. 

Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

 

Change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognized 

immediately in the profit or loss as past service cost. 

 

(iv) Bonus Plans  

 

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses. The Company recognizes a provision where contractually obliged 

or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. 

 

(v) Termination benefits 

 

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the normal retirement date, or when 

an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Company recognizes termination benefits at the 

earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Company can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity 

recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of Ind AS 37 and involves the payment of terminations benefits. In the 

case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of 

employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are 

discounted to present value. 
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2.8  Income tax 

 

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable 

income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences 

and to unused tax losses. 

 

The current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rates and the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable 

tax regulations is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions or make reversals of provisions made in earlier years, where 

appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to / received from the tax authorities. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized for all the temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 

amounts in the financial statements, subject to the consideration of prudence in respect of deferred tax assets. Deferred tax 

assets are recognized and carried forward only if it is probable that sufficient future taxable amounts will be available against 

which such deferred tax asset can be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates and tax laws 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related 

deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each 

reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax 

asset to be recovered. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments 

in subsidiaries, associates and interest in joint arrangements where the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of 

the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 

Deferred tax assets are not recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in 

subsidiaries, associates and interest in joint arrangements where it is not probable that the differences will reverse in the 

foreseeable future and taxable profit will not be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. 

 

Current and deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity, respectively.  

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets and liabilities and the 

deferred tax balances relate to the same taxable authority. Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where the entity has a 

legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously. 

 

2.9 Provisions  

 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable 

that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably 

estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.  

 

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 

considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any 

one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. 

 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate 

of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to 
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determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the 

passage of time is recognized as a finance cost. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.10 Leases (as lessee) 

 

Operating Lease: 

 

The company has adopted IND AS 116 for leases. Accordingly, the company assesses whether a contract contains a lease, at 

inception of a contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset 

for a period of time in exchange of consideration. 

 

To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether: 

 

(i) the Contract involves the use of an identified asset, 

(ii) the Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the period of lease 

(iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of asset 

As at the date of commencement of the lease, the Company recognizes a right of use asset and a corresponding lease liability for 

all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for the leases with a term of twelve month or less (short term leases). For 

these short term leases, the Company recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight line basis over the 

period of lease. 

 

Certain lease arrangements includes the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. ROU assets 

and lease liabilities includes these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised. 

 

The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any 

lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct costs less any lease incentives. 

They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the commencement date on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The lease liability 

is initially measured at amortized cost at the present value of the future lease payments. Lease liabilities are remeasured with a 

corresponding adjustment to the related right of use asset if the Company changes its assessment if whether it will exercise an 

extension or a termination option. 

 

Ind AS 116 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees 

to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model.  

 

Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and lease payments have been classified as 

financing cash flows. 

 

The Company has applied the standard (IND AS 116)  to all lease contracts existing on April 01, 2019 using the modified 

retrospective approach and has taken the cumulative adjustment to right of use of assets, on the date of initial application. 

Consequently the Company recorded the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments discounted at the incremental 

borrowing rate at the date of initial application. Comparatives of previous periods have not retrospectively adjusted and therefore 

will continue to be reported under previously adopted accounting policy as per Ind AS 17. 
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On transition; the Company recognized right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases previously classified as operating 

leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognized a lease liability measured at the 

present value of the remaining lease payments. The right-of-use asset is recognized at its carrying amount as if the standard had 

been applied since the commencement of the lease, but discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as at April 1, 

2019. The right-of-use assets were recognized based on the amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted for any related prepaid 

and accrued lease payments previously recognised. Lease liabilities were recognized based on the present value of the remaining 

lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application. 

 

The effect of adoption of Ind AS 116 is as follows: 

 

The Company has recognized Right of use assets for Rs. 19 Mn and Lease liabilities of Rs. 15.64 Mn as at March 31, 2020. Prepaid 

rent arising due to discounting of security deposit of Rs. 0.4 Mn has been adjusted with the Right of use asset (ROU). 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2020, depreciation of Rs. 3.6 Mn on Right of use assets and interest expense of Rs. 0.85 Mn on 

Lease liabilities has been charged to statement of profit and loss. 

 

During the current quarter, depreciation of Rs. 1.5 Mn on Right of use assets and interest expense of Rs. 0.33 Mn on Lease 

liabilities has been charged to statement of profit and loss. 

 

The principle portion of the lease payments have been disclosed under cash flow from financing activities. The lease payments 

for operating leases as per Ind AS 17 - Leases, were earlier reported under cash flow from operating activities.  

 

The following is the summary of practical expedients elected on initial application: 

 

1.  Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases of similar assets in similar economic environment with a  similar end 

date 

 

2. Applied the exemption not to recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of lease term 

on the date of initial application 

 

3.  Excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application 

 

4.  Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.  

 

   The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities as at March 31, 2020 is taken at 8.50% 

 

 

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise cash on hand, amount at banks and other short-term deposits with an 

original maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and, which are subject to an 

insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as defined 

above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the company’s cash management 

 

2.12 Earnings Per Share (EPS) 

 

(i) Basic earnings per share 

 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: 

 

 the profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the Company 
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 by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the financial period, adjusted for bonus elements in 

equity shares issued during the period 

 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 

 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account: 

 

 The weighted average number of additional equity shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all 

dilutive potential instruments into equity shares. 

 

2.13  Financial Instruments   

 

(i) Classification 

 

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

 those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss, and 

 those measured at amortised cost. 

 

The classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms 

of the cash flows. 

 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses are recorded in profit or loss. For investments in equity instruments 

in subsidiaries, associates and jointly control entities these are carried at cost less diminution, if any, in these financial 

statements. 

 

The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 

 

(ii) Measurement 

 

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at 

fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 

Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. 

 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows 

are solely payment of principal and interest. 

 

Debt instruments 

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Company’s business model for managing the asset and 

the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement categories into which the Company has classified 

its debt instruments: 

    Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and where the contractual terms give 

rise on specified dates to cash flows that represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at 

amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at amortised cost is recognized in 

profit or loss when the asset is derecognized or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 

finance income using the effective interest rate method. 

    

   Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost, are measured at fair value 
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through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss 

is recognized in profit or loss and presented net in the statement of profit and loss within other income in the period in which 

it arises. Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income. 

 

Equity instruments 

 

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments which are within the scope of Ind AS 109 at fair value, other than 

investments in equity instruments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly control entities, which are carried at cost less diminution, 

if any.  

 

iii)    Impairment of financial assets 

 

The company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortized cost. 

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 27 details 

how the company determines whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. 

 

For trade receivables only, the Company applies the simplified approach permitted by Ind AS 109 Financial Instruments, which 

requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition of the receivables. 

 

(iv)  Derecognition of financial instruments  

A financial asset is derecognized only when  

 the Company has transferred the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset or 

 retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes a contractual obligation to pay 

the cash flows to one or more recipients. 

Where the Company has transferred an asset, the Company evaluates whether it has transferred substantially all risks and rewards 

of ownership of the financial asset. In such cases, the financial asset is derecognised. Where the entity has not transferred 

substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the financial asset is not derecognized. 

 

Where the entity has neither transferred a financial asset nor retains substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 

asset, the financial asset is derecognized if the Company has not retained control of the financial asset. Where the Company retains 

control of the financial asset, the asset is continued to be recognized to the extent of continuing involvement in the financial asset. 

A financial liability (or a part of financial liability) is derecognized from the Company’s balance sheet when the obligation specified 

in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

 

(v) Financial Liabilities  

 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings, payables, as appropriate.  

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts. For trade and 

other payables maturing within one year from the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to short 

term maturity of these instruments. 

 

(vi) Income recognition 

 

Interest income 

 

For all debt instruments measured  at amortized cost, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). EIR is the 

rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a 

shorter period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortized cost of a financial 
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liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the company estimates the expected cash flows by considering all the 

contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but does not consider 

the expected credit losses. Interest income is included in finance income in the statement of profit and loss 

 

Dividends 

  

Dividends are recognized in profit or loss only when the right to receive the payments is established, it is probable that the 

economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Company, and the amount of the dividend can be measured 

reliably, which is generally when the shareholders approve the dividend. 

 

2.14 Contributed Equity 

 

Equity shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

      

      2.15 Exceptional items 

Exceptional items include income or expense that are considered to be part of ordinary activities, however are of such 

significance and nature that separate disclosure enables the user of the financial statements to understand the impact in a more 

meaningful manner. 

 

2.16 Critical estimates and judgements 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the recognition and measurement principles of Ind AS that requires 

management to make accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to 

exercise judgement in applying the Company’s accounting policies. The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying 

financial statements are based upon Management’s evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as at the date of the 

financial statements.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 

Key sources of estimation of uncertainty at the date of the financial statements, which may cause a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, is in respect of impairment of non-current investments 

and has been discussed below. Key source of estimation of uncertainty in respect of current tax expense and payable, employee 

benefits and fair value of unlisted subsidiary entities have been discussed in their respective policies. 
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HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED

Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amount Rs.)

4 Other financial assets

Current Non-current Current Non-current Current Non-current

Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated
Deposits with original maturity for more than 12 months 1,827,131                    1,448,135                -                            68,447,628               -                            62,909,511                    
Security deposits 923,354                       1,285,000                2,471,160                 60,000                      1,985,000                 570,600                        
Interest accrued on FD 163,678                       100,686                  -                            121,623                    -                            1,303,765                      
Investment in LIC Gratuity -                              529,827                  -                            481,718                    -                            411,252                        
Other financial assets 275,510                       300                         -                            19,657                      

Total other financial asset 3,189,673                    3,363,948                2,471,160                 69,130,626               1,985,000                 65,195,128                    

5 Current tax assets (net) As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

Current Non-current Current Non-current Current Non-current

Current Tax Assets 38,610,118                  -                          22,818,918               -                            17,008,228               -                                

Total current tax assets (net) 38,610,118                  -                          22,818,918               -                            17,008,228               -                                

6 Deferred tax assets (net) As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

Current Non-current Current Non-current Current Non-current

Amount Attributable to:
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -                              600,893                  -                            600,893                    -                            401,723                        
Unutilised tax credits (Minimum alternative tax credit) -                              335,164                  -                            335,164                    -                            335,164                        

Total non-current tax assets (net) -                              936,057                  -                            936,057                    -                            736,887                        

7 Other assets As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

Current Non-current Current Non-current Current Non-current

Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated
Advances to suppliers 197,497                       -                          186,057                    -                            139,391                    -                                
Prepaid expenses 196,129                       -                          340,831                    -                            105,187                    -                                
Advance to employees 15,049                        -                          -                            -                            7,109                        -                                
Balances with government authorities 2,117,671                    -                          12,391,642               -                            9,442,245                 -                                

Total other assets 2,526,346                    -                          12,918,529               -                            9,693,932                 -                                

8 Trade receivables As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

Unsecured

Receivable from related parties -                          -                            -                                

Receivable from others 22,749,816              28,528,676               24,279,687                    
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (7,100,187)              -                            -                                

Total Trade receivables 15,649,629              28,528,676               24,279,687                    

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing.

9 Cash and cash equivalents As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

Balance with Banks
- In current accounts 36,969,601              6,047,171                 7,021,344                      
Cash on hand 8,003                      5,168                        10,154                          

Total cash and cash equivalents 36,977,604              6,052,339                 7,031,498                      

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

Rs. Rs. Rs.

Balances with banks:

– On current accounts               36,969,601                   6,047,171 7,021,344                      
Cash on hand                        8,003                         5,168 10,154                          

              36,977,604                   6,052,339                       7,031,498 

10 Other bank balances As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

Balances with banks

Deposits with original maturity of less than three months -                          -                            -                                

Deposits with original maturity for more than 12 months 3,275,266                                              -                                     -   

3,275,266.00                                         -                                     -   

Amount disclosed as "Other financial assets" (refer note 5) (3,275,266.00)          

Total other bank balances -                          -                            -                                

11 Other equity As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

Securities premium reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year 98,586,109              98,586,109               103,977,867                  
Less: share issue expenses -                          -                            (5,391,758)                    

98,586,109              98,586,109               98,586,109                    

Retained earnings
Balance at the beginning of the year (41,934,779)            (34,327,453)              (8,574,653)                    
Add: Profit / (Loss) for the period (72,803,000)            (7,607,283)                (25,752,799)                  
Add: other comprehensive income -                          -                            -                                
Add: Adjustment to reserves on account of transition to Ind AS -                          -                            -                                

(114,737,779)           (41,934,736)              (34,327,453)                  

Total other equity (16,151,670)            56,651,373               64,258,656                    

11.1     Nature and purpose of other equity

- Securities premium reserve: Securities premium reserve is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The reserve can be utilised only for limited purposes such as issuance of bonus shares in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

- Other comprehensive income (OCI) reserve: This represents balance arising own account of gain/(loss) booked on remeasurement of post employment benefits obligation through other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

No trade or other receivable are due from directors or other officers of the Company either severally or jointly with any other person. Further, trade receivable include dues from private company amounting to INR NIL in
which director is a director. 

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018
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12.1 Other financial liabilities As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

Current Non-current Current Non-current Current Non-current

Lease liability
Lease liability 5,974,571                    9,669,279                -                            -                            

Total other financial liabilities 5,974,571                    9,669,279                -                            -                            -                            -                                

The following is the movement in lease liabilities during the year ended March 31, 2020:

Year ended

31-Mar-20

(₹)
Balance at the beginning -                              

Additions 18,695,201                  
Deletions -                              
Finance cost accrued during the year 855,102                       
Payment of lease liabilities (3,906,453)                  

Balance at the end 15,643,850                  

Particulars Amount in (₹)
Less than one year 5,974,571                    
One to five years 9,669,279                    
More than five years -                              

12.2 Other financial liabilities As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

Current Non-current Current Non-current Current Non-current

Other financial liabilities
Expenses Payable 233,697                       -                          6,188,229                 -                            2,255,301                 -                                
Employee benefits payable 7,375,451                    -                          676,719                    -                            754,891                    -                                
Security deposit received -                              -                          -                            -                            -                            -                                
Others liabilities 90,701                        -                          140,707                    -                            620,144                    -                                

Total other financial liabilities 7,699,849                    -                          7,005,654                 -                            3,630,336                 -                                

13 Provisions As at 31 March 2020 As at  31 March 2019

Current Non-current Current Non-current Current Non-current

Provisions for gratuity 941,686                       6,877,131                2,786,749                 2,502,131                 1,929,805                 2,717,987                      
Provision for leave Encashment 136,089                       -                          -                            -                            

Total provisions 1,077,775                    6,877,131                2,786,749                 2,502,131                 1,929,805                 2,717,987                      

14 Other liabilities As at 31 March 2020  As at 31 March 2019

Current Non-current Current Non-current Current Non-current

Income Received in Advance 83,619,121                  -                          71,168,917               -                            53,633,094               -                                
Advances from customers 659,051                       -                          289,122                    -                            538,429                    -                                
GST Payable 3,476,617                    -                          1,865,177                 -                            1,895,857                 -                                
Equilisation Levy Payable 100,429                       -                          77,716                      -                            75,040                      -                                
PF Payable 1,027,418                    -                          678,728                    -                            460,876                    -                                
TDS Payable 2,106,428                    -                          1,399,350                 -                            1,068,987                 -                                
Unapplied Receipt 356,280                       -                          863,194                    -                            863,194                    -                                
Provision for Service Tax Demand 11,213,555                  -                          -                            -                            -                            -                                

Total other liabilities 102,558,899                -                          76,342,204               -                            58,535,477               -                                

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018

Particulars

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of lease liabilities as of 

March 31, 2020 on an undiscounted basis:
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15 Trade payables As at 31 March 2020  As at 31 March 2019

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises (refer note 15.1) -                          -                            -                                
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 3,953,936                2,917,050                 1,577,134                      

Total trade payables 3,953,936                2,917,050                 1,577,134                      

15.1     Disclosures under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Act, 2006

As at 31 March 2020  As at 31 March 2019

(i) Details of dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 the
principal amount and the interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any
supplier as at the end of each accounting year

- principal amount Nil Nil Nil
- interest amount Nil Nil Nil

(ii) The amount of interest paid by the buyer under MSMED Act, 2006 along with
the amounts of the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day
during each accounting year;

Nil Nil Nil

(iii) The amount of interest due and payable for the period (where the principal has
been paid but interest under the MSMED Act, 2006 not paid);

Nil Nil Nil

(iv) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each
accounting year; and

Nil Nil Nil

(v) The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the
succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues as above are actually
paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible
expenditure under section 23 

Nil Nil Nil

The micro enterprises and small enterprises have been identified by the Company from the available information. According to such identification, the disclosures in respect to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises
Development (MSMED) Act, 2006 is as follows:

As at 01 April 2018

As at 01 April 2018



16.Equity share capital

As at As at As at

Particulars 31/03/2020 31/03/2019 01/04/2018

(₹) (₹) (₹)

Authorised capital

50000 Equity Shares of ₹10/- each (March 31, 2019 - 50000 Equity 
Shares of ₹10/- each) 500,000         500,000              500,000           

Issued, subscribed and paid-up capital

26353 Equity Shares of ₹10/- each fully paid up 263,530         263,530              263,530           

(March 31, 2019 - 26353 Equity Shares of ₹10/- each fully paid up)

Total 263,530         263,530              263,530           

Instruments entirely equity in nature

Compulsorily convertible preference shares

As at As at As at

Particulars 31/03/2020 31/03/2019 01/04/2018

(₹) (₹) (₹)

Authorised capital

0.01 % CCPS of face value INR 10 each 

(31 March 2019: 10000 INR 10 each) 100,000         100,000              100,000           

Issued, subscribed and paid-up capital

0.01 % CCPS of face value INR 10 each 

(31 March 2019: 6096 INR 10 each) 60,960           60,960                60,960             

Total 60,960           60,960                60,960             

HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020



a. Reconciliation of the shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year

As at As at As at As at As at As at

Particulars 31/03/2020 31/03/2020 31/03/2019 31/03/2019 01/04/2018 01/04/2018

No of shares (₹) No of shares (₹) No of shares (₹)

Equity shares

At the beginning of the year 26,353              263,530         26,353             263,530         26,353                263,530           

Add:Shares Issued during the year -                    -                 -                   -                 -                      -                  

Outstanding at the end of the year 26,353              263,530         26,353             263,530         26,353                263,530           

b. Terms/Rights attached to equity shares

C. Reconciliation of the shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year

As at As at As at As at As at As at

Particulars 31/03/2020 31/03/2020 31/03/2019 31/03/2019 01/04/2018 01/04/2018

No of shares (₹) No of shares (₹) No of shares (₹)

0.01% CCPS

At the beginning of the year 6,096                60,960.00      6,096               60,960.00      6,096                  60,960.00       

Add:Shares Issued during the year -                    -                 -                   -                 -                      -                  

Less:Shares bought back during the year -                    -                 -                   -                 -                      -                  

Outstanding at the end of the year 6,096                60,960           6,096               60,960           6,096                  60,960             

The Company has only one class of preference shares having a par value of ₹10 per share. Each holder of preference shares is entitled to one vote per share. In the 
event of liquidation, the preference shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company in proportion to their shareholding.

The Company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of ₹10 per share. Each holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote per share. In the event of 
liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company in proportion to their shareholding.



d. Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company

No. of shares % Holding No. of shares % Holding No. of shares % Holding

Equity shares of ₹10 each fully paid
Info Edge (India) Limited 26,353              100% -                   -                 -                      -                  

Tarun Matta -                    -                 10,000             37.9% 10,000                37.9%

Kishan Lal Matta -                    -                 10,000             37.9% 10,000                37.9%

India Quotient -                    -                 2,208               8.4% 2,208                  8.4%

Total 26,353              100% 22,208             84% 22,208                84%

No. of shares % Holding No. of shares % Holding No. of shares % Holding

0.01% CCPS of ₹10 each fully paid
Equity shares of ₹10 each fully paid
Info Edge (India) Limited 6,096                100% -                   -                 -                      -                  

India Quotient -                    -                 1,289               21.1% 1,289                  21.1%
India Technology Fund -                    -                 516                  8.5% 516                     8.5%
Sanjay Mariwala -                    -                 516                  8.5% 516                     8.5%
Ajay Raney -                    -                 516                  8.5% 516                     8.5%
Claris Capital Limited -                    -                 322                  5.3% 322                     5.3%

Total 6,096                100% 3,159               52% 3,159                  52%

 As at April 01, 2018 

 As at April 01, 2018 

 As at

March 31, 2020 Particulars

 As at

March 31, 2019 

Particulars

 As at

March 31, 2020 

 As at

March 31, 2019 
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(Amount Rs.)

17 Revenue from operations Year Ended 31 

March 2020

Year Ended 31 March 

2019

Revenue from operations

Sale of services 195,166,818            166,392,188                 

Total revenue from operations 195,166,818            166,392,188                 

18 Other income Year Ended 31 

March 2020

Year Ended 31 March 

2019

Interest income on

Bank deposits 1,545,091                5,364,801                     
Interest on Income Tax Refund 649,316                        
Other non operating income 34,155                          

-Unwinding of discount on security deposit 72,699                     -                                
Miscellaneous Income 29,522                     21,115                          
Total other income 1,647,311                6,069,387                     

19 Employee benefits expense Year Ended 31 

March 2020

Year Ended 31 March 

2019

Salaries, wages and bonus ** 169,535,572            104,312,179                 
Gratuity Expenses 1,834,673                704,777                        
Staff welfare expenses 2,190,060                1,708,263                     
Total employee benefit expenses 173,560,305            106,725,219                 

** Salaries, wages and bonus includes purchase of Stock Appreciation rights during the year for Rs.4,01,77,289

20 Finance costs Year Ended 31 

March 2020

Year Ended 31 March 

2019

Interest 

Interest Expenses on lease liability 855,102                   8,795                            
Others

Bank Charges 362,133                   361,728                        

Total finance costs 1,217,235                370,523                        
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21 Depreciation and amortization expense Year Ended 31 

March 2020

Year Ended 31 March 

2019

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (refer note 3) 5,261,827                2,403,691                     
Total depreciation and amortization expense 5,261,827                2,403,691                     

22 Other Expenses Year Ended 31 

March 2020

Year Ended 31 March 

2019

Annual Subscription & License Fee 846,985                   753,101                        
Payment to auditor 300,000                   312,500                        
Bad Debts 7,100,187                4,107,415                     
Server and IT Expenses 28,114,683              21,880,276                   
Repair and maintenance 1,227,198                906,059                        
Commission and Brokerage 1,822,993                747,052                        
Conveyance 71,858                     20,108                          
Communication Expenses 429,662                   657,477                        
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,902,434                1,653,361                     
Travelling and conveyance 5,007,348                6,926,977                     
Electricity Expenses 1,153,479                1,146,255                     
Foreign Exchange Fluctuation 29,144                     70,095                          
Marketing / Advertising 15,435,731              18,501,683                   
Office Expenses 546,258                   455,011                        
Photography & Videography 1,200,388                711,741                        
Printing and Stationery 2,223,123                1,389,718                     
Legal and Professional Expenses 2,254,643                340,087                        
Rent expenses 6,204,441                8,586,194                     
Rate & Taxes** 12,099,085              281,380                        
Sales Deptt Exp 534,848                   1,322,106                     
Total other expenses 88,504,487              70,768,596                   

** During the year we have made provision for service tax audit demand of Rs.11,213,555 on the basis of Audit Memo issued by the Deptt.

22.1      Payment to Auditor (excluding Goods and Services tax / Service tax wherever applicable ) Year Ended 31 

March 2020 

Year Ended 31 March 

2019

As Auditors

 - Audit fees 300,000                   250,000                        

 -Tax Audit fees -                          62,500                          

Other Services

 -Other filing & certification fee 265,340                   167,620                        

565,340                   480,120                        

22.2      

23 Earning per share

Year Ended 31 

March 2020

Year Ended 31 March 

2019

Weighted average number of shares used in basic earnings per share 26,353                     26,353                          
Weighted average number of shares used in diluted earnings per share                      32,449                           32,449 

The numerators and denominators used to calculate the basic and diluted EPS are as follows:

Year Ended 31 

March 2020

Year Ended 31 March 

2020

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (72,803,000)            (7,607,283)                    
Weighted average number of equity shares 26,353                     26,353                          
Nominal value per equity shares (refer note 10) 10.00                       10.00                            
Basic earning per share (2,762.61)                (288.67)                         
Diluted earning per share (2,243.61)                (234.44)                         

No disclosure is required under IND AS 108 on Segment Reporting specified in Companies (Indian Accounting Standard) (IND AS)) Rules, 2015 as the 
Company is operating in one class of segment.

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding during the year.

The reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share to the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share is as follows:



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

24. Employee Benefits 

The Company has classified the various benefits provided to employees as under:

A. Defined Contribution Plans

Particulars Year ended 

 March 31, 2020

Year ended 

 March 31, 2019

Employers’ Contribution to Provident Fund 3,534,031         2,544,769             

B. Other Long term benefits

Leave obligations

The leave obligations cover the Company's liability for earned leave. 

31/03/2020 31/03/2019

                136,089                     -   

Assumption used by the Actuary

Particulars

Discount Rate (per annum)
Rate of increase in Compensation levels

HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED

Current leave obligations expected to be settled with in the next twelve months

Leave Encashment / Compensated Absences

2019-20 2018-19

5.65% -
10% for First 5 years, -

& 8% thereafter
The estimates of future salary increases considered in the actuarial valuation takes into account factors like inflation, seniority, promotions and other relevant factors.

Particulars

The Company has a defined contribution plan in respect of provident fund. Contributions are made to provident fund 
in India for employees at the rate of 12% of basic salary as per regulations. The contributions are made to registered 
provident fund administered by the Government. The obligation of the group is limited to the amount contributed and it 
has no further contractual nor any constructive obligation.

The amount of the provision for ₹ 136,089 (Previous year - Nil) is presented as current, since the Company does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations. However, based on past experience, the Company does not expect 
all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or require payment with in the next twelve months.

During the year, the Company has recognised the following amounts towards defined contribution plan in the Statement of Profit and Loss



C. Defined Benefit Plans

Contribution to Gratuity Funds – Life Insurance Corporation of India, Group Gratuity Scheme

Assumption used by the Actuary

Particulars

Discount Rate (per annum)
Rate of increase in Compensation levels

The amounts recongised the balance sheet & movements in the net defined benefit obligation over the year are as follows :

Changes in the Present Value of  Obligation 2019-20 2018-19

Present Value of Obligation at the beginning of the year 5,288,880         4,647,792             

Interest Cost 299,452            -                        
Current Service Cost 1,535,220         641,088                
Benefits paid (328,846)           -                        
-Actuarial loss/(gain) arising on account of experience changes 1,024,111         -                        

Present Value of Obligation at the end of the year 7,818,817         5,288,880             

Changes in the Fair value of Plan Assets 2019-20 2018-19

Fair Value of Plan Assets at the beginning of the year 481,718            411,252                

Interest on Plan Assets 27,274              34,155                  
Remeasurement due to
Actual Return on plan assets less interest on plan assets (49,164)             (63,689)                 
Assets acquired/settled* 70,000              100,000                

Fair Value of Plan Assets at the end of the year 529,828            481,718                

10% for First 5 years,
& 8% thereafter

5.65% -

The Company provides for gratuity for employees in India as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Employees who are in continuous 
service for a period of 5 years are eligible for gratuity. The amount of gratuity payable on retirement/termination is the employees last 
drawn basic salary per month computed proportionately for 15 days salary multiplied for the number of years of service. The gratuity 
plan is a funded plan and the Company makes contribution to the recognised funds in India.

Gratuity

2019-20 2018-19



2019-20 2018-19

Present Value of funded obligation at the end of the year 7,818,817         5,288,880             

Fair Value of Plan Assets as at the end of the period (529,828)           (481,718)               
Amount not recognised due to asset limit -                    -                        

Net defined benefit liability / (asset) 7,288,989         4,807,162             

Current 941,686            2,786,749             
Non-Current 6,877,131         2,502,131             

Expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss 2019-20 2018-19

Current Service Cost 1,535,220         704,777                
Past Service Cost -                    -                        
Interest Cost 299,453            -                        
(Gains)/Loss on Settlement -                    -                        

Total 1,834,673         704,777                

31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19

Remeasurments during the year due to

-Experience adjustments 1,024,111         -                        

-Actual return on plan assets less interest on plan assets 49,164              -                        

1,073,275         -                        

D. Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumption is: 

31/03/2020 31/03/2019 31/03/2020 31/03/2019 31/03/2020 31/03/2019

Discount Rate 1.00% - Decrease by -7.90% - Increase by 9.20% -
Salary growth rate 1.00% - Increase by 5.50% - Decrease by -5.80% -

The methods and types of assumptions used un preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the prior year.

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in 
some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined  benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method 
(present value of the defined obligation calculated  with the projected unit credit method at the end of reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the defined 
benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet.  

Reconciliation of Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation and the Fair 

Impact on defined benefit obligation
Change in assumption Increase in assumption Decrease in assumption

Amount recognised in OCI during the year

Amount recorded in Other comprehensive Income (OCI)



(E) Major Category of Plan Asset as a % of total Plan Assets

Category of Assets (% Allocation)

 As at 

March 31, 

2020 

 As at 

March 31, 2019 

 As at 

March 31, 2020 

 As at 

March 31, 2019 

 %  % (` '000) (` '000)

Insurer managed funds 100% 100% 529,828            481,718                

Total 100% 100% 529,828            481,718                

(F) Risk exposure

Through its defined benefit plans, the group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

Asset volatility

Changes in bond yi

Less than a 

year

 Between 1-2 

years

 Between 2-5 

years
 Over 5 years  Total

941,686     -                      3,191,216         9,975,143             14,108,045    

The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to bond yields; if plan assets 
underperform this yield, this will create a deficit. The gratuity fund is administered through Life Insurance 
Corporation of India (insurer) under its group gratuity scheme. Accordingly almost the entire plan asset 
investments is maintained by the insurer. These are subject to interest rate risk which is managed by the insurer.A decrease in bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase in the 
value of the plans’ assets maintained by the insurer.

The gratuity fund is administered through Life Insurance Corporation(LIC) of India under its Group Gratuity Scheme.

31-Mar-20

Defined benefit obligation (gratuity)

(G) Defined benefit liability and employer contri

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is
The expected maturity analysis of undiscounted post employment benefit plan (gratuit

Particulars

Expected contribution to the post employment benefit plan (Gratuity) for the year ending March 31, 2021 are ₹ 8,717,283
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25.1 Related Party Disclosures for the period ended March 31, 2020

(A) List of Related Parties

Holding Company

Info Edge (India) Limited

Mr. Tarun Matta

Mr. Kishan Lal Matta

Mr. Sanjeev Bikhchandani

Mr. Hitesh Oberoi

Mr. Murlee Manohar Jain

Nature of relationship / transaction Holding 

Company

Associate 

Company

Total

Services Rendered 39,628,853   -               39,628,853 

Rent Paid 17,613          -               17,613        

Commission Paid 972,157        -               972,157      

Nature of relationship / transaction

KMP & 

Relatives Total

Remuneration Paid:

Mr. Tarun Matta (Salary) 1,000,000     1,000,000    
Mr. Kishan Lal Matta (Salary) 300,000        300,000       

d) Terms & conditions

All other transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions.

B) Details of transactions with Holding & Assocate Company for the year ended in the ordinary course 

of business

C) Details of transactions with KMP for the year ended March 31, 2020 in the ordinary course of 

business

The remuneration to key managerial personnel does not include the provisions made for gratuity and leave 

benefits, as they are determined on an actuarial basis for the Company as a whole

Key Management Personnel (KMP) & Relatives
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25.2 Related Party Disclosures for the period ended March 31, 2019

(A) List of Related Parties

Mr. Tarun Matta

Mr. Kishan Lal Matta

Nature of relationship / transaction Holding 

Company

Associate 

Company

Total

Services Rendered -                -               -              

Rent Paid -                -               -              

Commission Paid -                -               -              

Nature of relationship / transaction KMP & 

Relatives

Total

Remuneration Paid:

Mr. Tarun Matta (Salary) 4,000,000     4,000,000    
Mr. Kishan Lal Matta (Salary) 1,200,000     1,200,000    

d) Terms & conditions

All other transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions.

Key Management Personnel (KMP) & Relatives

B) Details of transactions with Info Edge (India) Limited for the year ended in the ordinary course of 

business

C) Details of transactions with KMP for the year ended March 31, 2020 in the ordinary course of 

business

The remuneration to key managerial personnel does not include the provisions made for gratuity and leave 

benefits, as they are determined on an actuarial basis for the Company as a whole
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26. Expenditure in foreign currency Amount (Rs.)

Particulars Year Ended 31 

March 2020

Year Ended 31 

March 2019
Server IT Expense 4,143,940          5,497,795         

Advertising & Promotion 5,964,253          4,565,866         

Travel & Conveyance -                     43,985              

Other 345,951             366,413            

Total 10,454,143        10,474,058       

27.Reconciliation between previous GAAP and Ind AS

Reconciliation of equity as on March 31, 2019 Amount (Rs.)

Particulars

 Previous 

GAAP* Adjustments Ind AS

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 5,673,345          -                    5,673,345        

Intangible assets 1                        -                    1                      
Financial assets

   (i) Other financial assets 69,130,626        -                    69,130,626      

Deferred tax assets (net) 936,057             -                    936,057           
Current assets

Financial assets

   (i) Trade receivables 28,528,676        -                    28,528,676      
   (ii) Cash and cash equivalents 6,052,339          -                    6,052,339        
   (iii) Other financial assets 2,471,160          -                    2,471,160        
Current tax assets (net) 22,818,918        -                    22,818,918      
Other current assets 12,918,529        -                    12,918,529      

Total Assets 148,529,651      -                    148,529,651    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Equity share capital 263,530             -                    263,530           
Instruments entirely equity in nature 60,960               -                    60,960             
Other equity 56,651,373        -                    56,651,373      
Non-current liabilities

Provisions 2,502,131          -                    2,502,131        
Current liabilities

Financial liabilities

   (i) Trade payables 2,917,050          -                    2,917,050        
   (ii) Other financial liabilities 7,005,654          -                    7,005,654        
Provisions 2,786,749          -                    2,786,749        
Other current liabilities 76,342,204        -                    76,342,204      
Total equity and liabilities 148,529,651      -                    148,529,651    

Ind AS 101 requires an entity to reconcile equity, total comprehensive income and cash flows for prior periods. 

The following tables represent the reconciliations from previous GAAP to Ind AS.

*The previous GAAP figures have been reclassified to conform to Ind AS presentation requirements for the 

purposes of this note.



Reconciliation of equity as on March 31, 2018 Amount (Rs.)

Particulars Previous GAAP* Adjustments Ind AS

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 7,043,525          -                    7,043,525        

Intangible assets 1                        -                    1                      

Financial assets

   (i) Other financial assets 65,195,128        -                    65,195,128      

Deferred tax assets (net) 736,887             -                    736,887           

Current assets

Financial assets

   (i) Trade receivables 24,279,687        -                    24,279,687      

   (ii) Cash and cash equivalents 7,031,498          -                    7,031,498        

   (iii) Other bank balances -                     -                    -                   
   (iii) Balance with bank other than Cash and cash 

equivalents -                     -                    -                   

   (iv) Other financial assets 1,985,000          -                    1,985,000        

Current tax assets (net) 17,008,228        -                    17,008,228      

Other current assets 9,693,932          -                    9,693,932        

Total assets 132,973,886      -                    132,973,886    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Equity share capital 263,530             -                    263,530           

Instruments entirely equity in nature 60,960               -                    60,960             

Other equity 64,258,656        -                    64,258,656      

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 2,717,987          -                    2,717,987        

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities

   (i) Trade payables 1,577,134          -                    1,577,134        

   (ii) Other financial liabilities 3,630,336          -                    3,630,336        

Provisions 1,929,805          -                    1,929,805        

Other current liabilities 58,535,477        -                    58,535,477      

Total equity and liabilities 132,973,886      -                    132,973,886    

*The previous GAAP figures have been reclassified to conform to Ind AS presentation requirements for the 

purposes of this note.



Reconciliation of total comprehensive income for the period March 31, 2019

Amount (Rs.)

Particulars Previous GAAP* Adjustment Ind AS

Income

Revenue from operations 166,392,188      -                    166,392,188    

Other income 6,069,387          -                    6,069,387        

Total income 172,461,575      -                    172,461,575    

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 106,725,219      -                    106,725,219    

Finance costs 370,523             -                    370,523           

Depreciation and amortization expense 2,403,691          -                    2,403,691        

Advertising and promotion cost 18,501,683        -                    18,501,683      

Network, internet and other direct charges 21,880,276        -                    21,880,276      

Administration and other expenses 30,386,637        -                    30,386,637      

Total expenses 180,268,028      -                    180,268,028    

Profit before exceptional items and tax (7,806,454)         -                    (7,806,454)       

Exceptional items -                     -                    -                   

Profit before tax (7,806,454)         -                    (7,806,454)       

Tax expenses

Current tax -                     -                    -                   

Deferred tax (199,170)            -                    (199,170)          

Profit after tax for the period/year (7,607,283)         -                    (7,607,283)       

Other comprehensive income:

(i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods:

Remeasurement of post employment benefit obligations -                     
(ii) Income tax relating to items that will not be 

reclassified to profit or loss -                     
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 

periods:

Total comprehensive income for the year (7,607,283)         -                    (7,607,283)       

Earnings per equity share 

Basic (288.67)              -                    (289)                 

Diluted (234.44)              -                    (234)                 

*The previous GAAP figures have been reclassified to conform to Ind AS presentation requirements for the 

purposes of this note.



Impact of Ind AS adoption on the cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2019 Amount (Rs.)

Particulars Previous GAAP* Adjustments Ind AS

Net cash flow from operating activities (5,310,448)         -                    (5,310,448)       

Net cash used in investing activities 4,331,289          -                    4,331,289        

Net cash used in financing activities -                     -                    -                   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (979,159)            -                    (979,159)          

Cash and cash equivalents as at April 01,2018 7,031,498          -                    7,031,498        

Cash and cash equivalents as at March 31,2019 6,052,339          -                    6,052,339        

Reconciliation of total equity as at March 31, 2019 and April 01, 2018

Amount (Rs.)

Particulars March 31, 2019 April 01, 2018

Total equity (shareholder’s funds) as per previous GAAP 56,975,863        64,583,146       

Total equity as per Ind AS 56,975,863        64,583,146       

*The previous GAAP figures have been reclassified to conform to Ind AS presentation requirements for the 

purposes of this note.
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28. Financial risk and Capital management

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management of risk

Credit risk Cash and cash equivalents, 

trade receivables, financial 

assets measured at 

amortised cost.

Aging analysis

Credit ratings

Diversification of bank deposits, 

credit limits and regular monitoring.

Liquidity risk Borrowings and other 

liabilities

Rolling cash flow

forecasts

Availability of surplus cash, 

committed credit lines and 

borrowing facilities

Market risk – foreign

exchange

Recognised financial assets 

and liabilities not 

denominated in Indian 

rupee (INR)

Cash flow 

forecasting 

Sensitivity analysis

Regular monitoring to keep the net 

exposure at an acceptable level, 

with option of taking Forward 

foreign exchange contracts if 

deemed necessary. 

Price Risk Investments in mutual funds Credit ratings Portfolio diversification and regular 

monitoring

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

(A) Financial risk management framework

The Company’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the

Company’s risk management framework. The board has established the Risk Management Committee, which is

responsible for developing and monitoring the Company’s risk management policies. The Committee holds

regular meetings and report to board on its activities.

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the

Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk

management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the

Company’s activities. The Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to

maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and

obligations.

The audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s risk management

policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks

faced by the Company. The audit committee is assisted in its oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit

undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which

are reported to the audit committee.

This note explains the sources of risk which the entity is exposed to and how the entity manages the risk.



(a). Credit risk

Trade and other receivables

Reconciliation of loss allowance provision: Amount (Rs.)

Trade receivables

Loss Allownance as on April 1, 2018                             -   

Change in loss allowance                             -   

Loss Allowance as on March 31, 2019                             -   

Change in loss allowance                7,100,187 

               7,100,187 

Cash and cash equivalents

Loss allowance as on March 31, 2020

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents and other deposits with banks is limited as the Company generally

invest in deposits with banks with high credit ratings assigned by external credit rating agencies, accordingly the

Company considers that the related credit risk is low. Impairment on these items are measured on the 12-month

expected credit loss basis. 

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.

However, management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its customer base,

including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate.

A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 90 days of

when they fall due. This definition of default is determined by considering the business environment in which

Company operates and other macro-economic factors.

Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on its credit worthiness and historical dealings with the

Company, market intelligence & goodwill. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored.

The Company has established an allowance for impairment that represents its expected credit losses in respect

of trade and other receivables. The management uses a simplified approach for the purpose of computation of

expected credit loss for trade receivables and 12-month expected credit loss for other receivables. An

impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major parties. In addition, a

large number of minor receivables are combined into homogenous categories and assessed for impairment

collectively. The calculation is based on historical data of actual losses. The Company evaluates the

concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails

to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company's receivables from customers.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020 

(b). Liquidity risk

(i) Financing arrangements

 Amount (₹)

Particulars March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 April 1, 2018

 Credit card facilities            1,980,000             1,980,000       1,980,000 

(ii) Maturities of financial liabilities

March 31, 2020
Total 6 months or less 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade payables            4,170,252             4,170,252                    -                -               -   

March 31, 2019
Total 6 months or less 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade payables            4,970,712             4,970,712                    -                -               -   

April 1, 2018
Total 6 months or less 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade payables            2,966,960             2,966,960                    -                -               -   

Contractual cash flows

Contractual cash flows

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its

financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to

managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they

are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to

the Company’s reputation.

The Company's treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining liquidity through investments in liquid funds

and other committed credit lines. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity position

(comprising the undrawn borrowing facilities below) and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash

flows.

The Company had access to the following credit card facilities at the end of the reporting period :

The bank credit card facilities may be drawn at any time.

The amount disclosed in the above table represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances equal their 

carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Contractual cash flows



HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED

(c). Market risk

(i). Currency risk

Exposure to currency risk

Financial assets  Amount (₹) (₹)  Amount (₹) (₹)  Amount (₹) (₹)
USD 86.86                    6,523 USD 

16355.6 1,133,770         
AED 1802.68               31,860 

AED 257.47                    5,263 AED 280.89                  5,298 EUR 147.55               11,800 
SGD 309.33                15,813 OMR 35.03                 5,900 

USD 
1495.24

              97,068 

 GBP 
507.011 

              46,179 

Total-Financial assets                 11,786                  -             1,154,881                  -                 43,659 

Financial liabilities 

Trade payables USD 16018.75            1,203,042 USD 17235  1,196,835.00 USD 6882.7 446,811            

Total financial liabilities            1,203,042                  -             1,196,835                  -               446,811 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

Trade receivables

Market risk is the risk arising from changes in market prices – such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates – will affect the Company’s

income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. Market risk is attributable to all market risk sensitive financial instruments including
foreign currency receivables and payables and long term debt. The Company is exposed to market risk primarily related to foreign exchange
rate risk, interest rate risk and the market value of the investments. Thus, the exposure to market risk is a function of investing and borrowing
activities and revenue generating and operating activities in foreign currency.

The Company is exposed to currency risk on account of foreign currency transactions including recognized assets and liabilities denominated in
a currency that is not the Company's functional currency (₹), primarily in respect of US$, United Arab Emirates Dirham (AED), Saudi Riyal
(SAR) and Bahraini Dinar (BHD). the Company ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level and is remain a net foreign
exchange earner.

The currency profile of financial assets and financial liabilities are given below:

As at 31/03/2020 As at March 31, 2019 As at April 01, 2018
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020 

(ii) Interest rate risk

Exposure to interest rate risk

31/03/2020 31/03/2019 01/04/2018

Fixed-rate instruments

Financial assets       3,275,266     68,447,628                62,909,511 

Total       3,275,266     68,447,628                62,909,511 

(B) Capital management

(a) Risk management

31/03/2020 31/03/2019 01/04/2018

    15,649,629     28,528,676                24,279,687 

    84,278,172     61,184,032                46,085,130 Contract Liabilities

29. Customer contract balances

The Company has adopted Ind AS 115 on Revenue from Contracts with Customers, using the modified

retrospective approach. The standard is applied retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed as at the

date of initial application and comparative information is not restated in the statement of profit and loss. The

adoption of the standard did not have any material impact on the recognition and measurement of revenue and

related items in the financial statements/results.

Particulars

Trade Receivable

The Company's objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that

they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The capital of the

Company consist of equity capital and accumulated profits. The Company avails borrowings only for buying

vehicles.

Interest rate risk can be either fair value interest rate risk or cash flow interest rate risk. Fair value interest rate risk

is the risk of changes in fair values of fixed interest bearing investments because of fluctuations in the interest

rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of floating interest bearing investments will

fluctuate because of fluctuations in the interest rates. 

The Company's borrowings and deposits/loans are all at fixed rate and are carried at amortised cost. They are

therefore not subject to interest rate risk as defined in Ind AS 107, since neither the carrying amount nor the future

cash flows will fluctuate because of a change in market interest rates. 

The exposure of the Company's financials assets/liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

Particulars



Set out below is the amount of revenue recognised from:
For the year 

ended 

March 31, 

2020

(₹)

For the year 

ended 

March 31, 

2019

(₹)

For the year ended 

April 01, 2018

(₹)

    60,015,442     45,127,455                32,623,559 

For Soni Gulati & Co. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Chartered Accountants

Firm registration number: FR008770N

Suresh Chand Soni Hitesh Oberoi Murlee Manohar Jain
Partner Director Director

Membership No.: 083106 DIN No-01189953 DIN No-05101562

Place: Shimla Place:Noida Place:Noida

Date: 08/06/2020 Date: 08/06/2020 Date: 08/06/2020

Particulars

Amount included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the 

year 

The company has as a matter of practical expedient recognised the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as 

an expense when incurred, since the amortisation period of the asset that the entity otherwise would have 

recognised is generally one year or less.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 to 90 days and are conditioned to be 

recovered purely on passage of time. Hence contract assets have been considered to be Nil. 

Contract Liabilities includes Deferred Sales revenue and advance received from Customer

Other disclosure  as specified under IndAS 115 are not required to be made as a matter of practical expedient , 

since the performance obligation is part of contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less.

Contract liabilities are primarily the deferred sales revenue against which amount has been received from 

customer but services are yet to be rendered on the reporting date either in full or in parts. Contract liabilities are 

recognized evenly over the subscription period, being performance obligation of the Company.
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Review Report to 

The Board of Directors  

Highorbit Careers Private 

Limited,  

 

We have reviewed the accompanying statement of standalone unaudited Ind AS  financial 

results of Highorbit Careers Private Limited for the quarter & half year ended  30th September,, 

2020 . The p r e p a r a t i o n  o f  t h e s e   t h e  statement in accordance with the 

recognition & measurement principals laid down in Ind AS 34  i s  the responsibility of the 

Company’s Management and has been approved by the Board of directors , our responsibility 

is to issue a report on these Financial statements based on our review. 

We have conducted our review in accordance with the Standard on Review Engagement 

(SRE) 2410, 'Review of Interim Financial information Performed by the Independent Auditor of 

the Entity" issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. This Standard requires that 

we plan and perform the review to obtain moderate assurance as to whether the Financials 

statements are free of material misstatement. A review is limited primarily to inquire of 

company personnel and analytical procedures applied to financial data and thus provide 

less assurance than an audit. We have not performed an audit and accordingly . we do not  

express an audit opinion. 

Based on our review conducted as above. nothing has come to our attention that causes us to 

believe that the accompanying statement of standalone unaudited financial results along with notes 

thereon, prepared in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards specified as per section 

133 of the Companies Act 2013 read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and 

other recognized accounting practices and policies thereon, has not disclosed the information 

required to be disclosed in terms of Clause 41of the Listing Agreement including the manner in 

which it is to be disclosed,  or that it contains any material misstatement. 

 

          For Soni Gulati & Co. 

          Chartered Accountants 

Place  Shimla         

Dated 09 .11. 2020 

UDIN: 20083106AAAABQ8351 

           Partner 

           M.no. 083106 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Suresh 

Chand Soni

Digitally signed by 

Suresh Chand Soni 

Date: 2020.11.09 

17:39:29 +05'30'



 (INR in thousands) 

As at As at

Particulars  30 September 2020  31 March 2020

Unaudited Audited

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14,204                        20,731                            
Intangible assets 0                                  0                                     
Financial assets
   (i) Other financial assets 3,193                           3,364                              
Deferred tax assets (net) 936                              936                                 

18,333                        25,031                            

Current assets

Financial assets
   (i) Trade receivables 4,273                           15,649                            
   (ii) Cash and cash equivalents 11,639                        36,978                            
   (iii) Other financial assets 17,711                        3,190                              
Current tax assets (net) 26,258                        38,610                            
Other current assets 12,241                        2,526                              

72,122                        96,953                            

Total assets 90,455                        121,984                          

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Equity share capital 264                              264                                 
Instruments entirely equity in nature 61                                61                                   
Other equity (13,836)                       (16,152)                           
Total equity (13,511)                       (15,827)                           

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities

   (i)  Lease liability 5,128                           9,669                              

Provisions 1,711                           6,877                              
6,839                           16,546                            

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities
   (i) Trade payables 86                                3,954                              
   (ii) Lease liability 4,757                           5,974                              
   (iii) Other financial liabilities 10,023                        7,700                              
Provisions 7,685                           1,078                              
Other current liabilities 74,576                        102,559                          

97,127                        121,265                          

Total liabilities 103,966                      137,811                          

Total equity and liabilities 90,455                        121,984                          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET 

CIN : U72900DL2010PTC207653
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UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR HALF YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2020

 (INR in thousands) 

For the period ended For the period ended

Sep 30,2020 Sep 30,2019

A. Cash flow from operating activities 

Profit before tax (after exceptional items) 2,315                          (45,474)                         

Adjustment to reconcile loss before tax to net cash flows:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,474                          1,502                             

Interest on lease liability Obligation 527                             146                                

Interest income (815)                            (1,620)                           
Misc income on reversal of lease liability (155)                            
Unwinding of security deposit (52)                              (12)                                 
Bad debt/provision for doubtful debts (137)                            -                                 

Operating profit before working capital changes 5,157                          (45,458)                         

Movements in working capital :

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables 11,514                        (203)                               
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets (14,299)                       53,786                           
(Increase)/decrease in other assets (9,715)                         (767)                               
Increase in other financial liabilities 2,324                          38,644                           
Increase in provisions 1,442                          1,509                             
Increase in other liabilities (27,983)                       8,300                             
Increase in trade payables (3,868)                         (1,653)                           

Cash generated from operations (35,428)                       54,159                           

Direct taxes paid (net of refunds) 12,352                        (6,335)                           

Net cash flow/used in operating activities (A) (23,076)                       47,824                           

B. Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -                              (743)                               
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets

-                              -                                 

Interest received 815                             1,620                             

Net cash flow from investing activities (B) 815                             876                                

C. Cash flow from financing activities

Interest on lease Liability (527)                            (146)                               
Lease liability repayment (2,551)                         (371)                               

Net cash used in financing activities (C) (3,078)                         (517)                               

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (25,339)                       48,183                           

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 36,978                        6,052                             

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 11,639                        54,236                           

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalent as per the cash flow 

statement:

 As at 30 Sep 2020  As at 30 Sep 2019 

Cash and cash equivalents as per above comprises of the following :
- Cash on hand                                   3 4                                    
- 'Balance in current accounts                          11,636                            54,231 

Balances as per cash flow statement                          11,639                            54,236 

HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED

See accompanying notes to financial results.
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REPORT ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED 

AT THEIR METING HELD ON NOVEMBER 9, 2020 EXPLAINING THE EFFECT OF THE SCHEME OF 

AMALGAMATION OF HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED WITH INFO EDGE (INDIA) LIMITED 

AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SHAREHOLDERS AND CREDITORS, UNDER SECTIONS 230 TO 232 AND 

OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2013, ON EACH CLASS OF 

SHAREHOLDERS, KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL, PROMOTERS AND NON PROMOTER 

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 

1. Background 

1.1. This report is under the provisions of Section 232(2)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013  

(the “Act”) and summarizes the effect of the Scheme of Amalgamation between Highorbit Careers 

Private Limited (“Highorbit” or “Transferor Company” or the “Company”) and Info Edge (India) 

Limited (“Info Edge” or “Transferee Company”) and their respective shareholders and creditors 

(the “Scheme”) on each class of shareholders, key managerial personnel, promoters and non-

promoter shareholders of the Company.  

1.2. The draft Scheme was placed before the Board, for the purpose of identification. 

2. Cancellation of share capital of the Transferor Company  

2.1. The Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company. Hence, the 

Transferee Company would not be required to issue and allot any shares to the shareholders of the 

Transferor Company.  

 

2.2. Upon the Scheme becoming effective, no shares of the Transferee Company shall be allotted in lieu 

or exchange of the holding of the wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company in the 

Transferor Company and the stated capital/issued and paid-up capital of the Transferor Company 

shall stand cancelled.  

 

3. Effect of the Scheme on the equity and preference shareholders (promoter and non-promoter) 

of the Company 

 



 

Registered Office: GF- 12A, 94, Meghdoot Building, Nehru Place, New Delhi - 110019 

 

 

3.1 The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company, hence, there are no non-

promoter shareholders in the Company. The effectiveness of the Scheme shall have no adverse 

impact on the equity and preference shareholders of the Company. 

4. Effect of the Scheme on the Key Managerial Personnel (‘KMPs’) and Board of Directors of the 

Company 

4.1 Upon effectiveness of the Scheme, the Company shall stand dissolved without winding up and 

accordingly, its Board of Directors shall cease to exist. 

4.2 None of the directors, the KMPs of the Company and their respective ‘Relatives’ (as defined under 

the Act and rules formed thereunder) have any material interests, financial or otherwise in the 

Scheme.  

For and on behalf of Highorbit Careers Private Limited 

 

 

 

Murlee Manohar Jain 

Director 

DIN: 05101562 

Date: November 9, 2020 

Place: Noida 

 

 

 

 

 



 

REPORT ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF INFO EDGE (INDIA) LIMITED AT THEIR 

METING HELD ON NOVEMBER 10, 2020 EXPLAINING THE EFFECT OF THE SCHEME OF 

AMALGAMATION OF HIGHORBIT CAREERS PRIVATE LIMITED WITH INFO EDGE (INDIA) 

LIMITED AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SHAREHOLDERS AND CREDITORS, UNDER SECTIONS 230 

TO 232 AND OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2013, ON EACH 

CLASS OF SHAREHOLDERS, KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL, PROMOTERS AND NON 

PROMOTER SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 

1. Background 

1.1 This report is under the provisions of Section 232(2)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) 

and summarizes the effect of the Scheme of Amalgamation between Highorbit Careers Private 

Limited (“Highorbit” or “Transferor Company”) and Info Edge (India) Limited (“Info Edge” or 

“Transferee Company” or the “Company”) and their respective shareholders and creditors 

(the “Scheme”) on each class of shareholders, key managerial personnel, promoters and non-

promoter shareholders, of the Company.  

1.2 The draft Scheme was placed before the Board and initialed by the Company Secretary, for the 

purpose of identification. 

2. Cancellation of share capital of the Transferor Company  

2.1 The Transferor Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company. Hence, the 

Transferee Company would not be required to issue and allot any shares to the shareholders of 

the Transferor Company.  

 

2.2 Upon the Scheme becoming effective, no shares of the Transferee Company shall be allotted in 

lieu or exchange of the holding of the wholly owned subsidiary of the Transferee Company in the 

Transferor Company and the stated capital/issued and paid-up capital of the Transferor 

Company shall stand cancelled. 
 

3. Effect of the Scheme on the shareholders (promoter and non-promoter) of the Company 

3.1 The Company has only one class of shareholders, i.e. equity shareholders. The effectiveness of 

the Scheme will have no impact on the shareholders of the Company. Accordingly, the 

shareholders of the Company shall continue to be the shareholders of the Company, even after 

the effectiveness of the Scheme 

  

 

 

 

 

 



 

4. Effect of the Scheme on the Key Managerial Personnel (‘KMPs’) and Board of Directors of 
the Company 

4.1 The effectiveness of the Scheme will have no impact on the KMPs / Board of Directors of the 

Company. The KMPs / Board of Directors of the Company shall continue to be the KMPs / Board 

of Directors of the Company, even after the effectiveness of the Scheme. 

4.2 None of the directors, the KMPs of the Company and their respective ‘Relatives’ (as defined 

under the Act and rules formed thereunder) have any material interests, financial or otherwise in 

the Scheme.  

For and on behalf of Info Edge (India) Limited 

 

Chintan Thakkar 

CFO & Whole-time Director 

DIN: 00678173 

Date: November 10, 2020 

Place: Noida 
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